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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The CIT Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

At or for the Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:
Operating revenue
Salaries and general operating expenses
Provision for credit losses
Goodwill amortization
Pre-tax income
Net income
Net income per diluted share excluding goodwill amortization
Net income per diluted share

$ 2,381
1,035
255
86
986
612
2.62
$ 2.33

$ 1,268
516
110
26
597
389
2.33
$ 2.22

$ 1,060
408
99
10
524
339
2.11
$ 2.08

MANAGED ASSETS:
Commercial
Consumer

$38,585
5,200

$35,688
4,706

$18,445
5,254

Total financing and leasing assets

$43,785

$40,394

$23,699

Total managed assets

$54,901

$51,433

$26,216

CAPITALIZATION:
Total debt
Preferred capital securities
Stockholders’ equity
Reserve for credit losses

$37,965
250
6,007
469

$35,374
250
5,554
447

$18,651
250
2,702
264

1

Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts

Employees

10.7%
16.0%
1.50%
0.71%
43.8%
1.40%
2.98%

12.0%
14.2%
1.52%
0.42%
41.3%
1.44%
2.71%

13.2%
14.0%
1.65%
0.42%
39.2%
1.33%
1.75%

6.02X

5.96X

6.32X

7,355

8,255

3,230
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KEY RATIOS:
Return on average stockholders’ equity
Return on average tangible stockholders’ equity
Return on average earning assets
Net credit losses (% of average finance receivables)
Efficiency ratio
Reserve for credit losses (% of finance receivables)
Past due 60+ days (% of finance receivables)
Debt (net of overnight deposits) to stockholders’ equity and
preferred capital securities

48,689.8

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

9,337.2
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1988

2000

9,177.2

54,900.9

TOTAL ASSETS
in millions of dollars

ALBERT R. GAMPER, JR.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

1988

2000

MANAGED ASSETS
in millions of dollars

FINANCING A TOTAL ECONOMY
611.6

After another year of record earnings growth, CIT enters the new
millennium as a bigger, broader, more diversified and dynamic company.
Our history and our future vision position us well to serve the total
economy, from traditional companies that build airplanes and bridges to
We continue to nurture those high-growth core businesses such as
construction and transportation that helped build CIT — and America —
throughout the 20th century. In this way, CIT carries on an impressive
history. Indeed, we were a leading business-to-business provider for key

120.3

the emerging industries that are paving the electronic highway.

1988

2000

NET INCOME
in millions of dollars

6,007.2

industries long before B2B became a buzzword. Now, using our market
leadership positions, strategic partnerships, and the tools of e-commerce,
by forging new alliances in the computer, electronics, and telecommunications industries. We offer them quality practices that have been
carefully honed over CIT's 93-year history: conservative credit standards,

1,312.3

excellent asset and risk management skills, solid technology and strong

1988

expense disciplines.

2000

43,784.6

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
in millions of dollars

ANOTHER RECORD YEAR

Quite frankly, our expectations for 2000 were greater than our achievements. The considerable work of integrating a major acquisition, rising
interest rates, and our intentional de-emphasizing of certain nonstrategic
businesses all worked against our original intentions. Nevertheless, I’m
proud to announce that CIT yet again produced record net income for the
fourth quarter and the year. That makes 2000 the 13th consecutive year
that we have increased earnings. Not too many companies can say that.

9,177.2

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2000, net income totaled a
record $612 million, an increase of 57.1% from the prior year. Earnings
per diluted share, before the amortization of goodwill, increased 12.4%

1988

2000

5,248.4

FINANCING & LEASING
PORTFOLIO ASSETS
in millions of dollars

from 1999, to $2.62. Moreover, business volume and margins rose, while
expense and leverage ratios improved since last year. Credit quality
remained stable. CIT now claims a total of $55 billion in assets under
management, compared with $51 billion last year.
Strategic planning

It’s almost hard to believe that in 1987, when I joined CIT, the company
had only $40 million in net income and $9 billion in assets. At that time,
1,042.3

we developed a growth strategy to create a bigger, broader company with

1988

more products and services, a wider geographical presence, and dominance in significant markets.
2000

FINANCE INCOME
in millions of dollars

We’ve been building toward that goal ever since, winning ground in
important industries, acquiring competitors when it made sense to do so,
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CIT is also making strides into the high-tech markets of the 21st century

3

and expanding carefully and deliberately into new arenas such as equity
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financing. Now, as the largest publicly traded commercial finance
company in the world, we continue to increase CIT’s market leadership,
breadth of products and clients, and economies of scale, in an effort to
assure our prosperity for years to come.

These days, airlines need to
adapt to rapidly changing
markets. When British Airways
needed to keep some wide-body
aircrafts on standby for added
capacity, most companies
wouldn’t provide the unusually

BUILDING ON A SOLID BALANCE SHEET

Our blueprint for continued financial success is fourfold: reducing
leverage, increasing productivity, cultivating high-margin businesses while
exiting less lucrative areas, and maintaining high credit ratings.

short-term lease they wanted. But
CIT came through with three-year
leases on two B757s. “CIT offered
the terms that matched our timing
and lease duration,” says British
Airways Aircraft Trading Manager

Reducing leverage

For starters, I’m pleased to report that we’ve made significant progress in
reducing CIT’s leverage, an effort that will intensify in the year ahead. We
sold over $1 billion in non-strategic assets during 2000. We also instituted
a stronger pricing discipline, which resulted in more disciplined asset and
earnings growth.
Increasing productivity

We’ve also lowered our expenses as a percentage of managed assets. At
the start of 2000, we targeted $150 million in savings. By the end of
the third quarter, we exceeded our goal by eliminating corporate
overhead and duplicate systems. We continue to scrutinize our operations
for further cost-saving opportunities. We’ve set an aggressive goal of
reducing our efficiency ratio to less than 40%, which we plan to reach
through technological efficiencies and prudent management.
Boosting high-margin businesses

CIT is cultivating strategically important businesses that can give us
better returns, growth and leadership in healthy markets. At the same
time, we’re winding down lower-return businesses so we can redeploy
those resources more profitably.

Colin Davis. “It was the right
company with the right deal at
the right time.”

5
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This year, Dell Computer
Corporation extended its agreement with CIT for five years.
Financial Services (DFS) has built a

CIT is known for its superior credit management. We continue to place
great importance on this strength, especially in an economy that appears
to be softening.

world class organization, and
this new agreement is evidence of
our commitment to DFS and to
CIT” said James Schneider, Dell’s
Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer. CIT is dedicated

CIT is well-positioned to execute the above goals for many reasons. These
include our growing leadership in important segments of the economy,
our success in forming long-term strategic partnerships, and a more
diversified revenue and product base.

to providing funding to DFS,
enhancing Dell's ability to better
serve its customers around the
world with purchase and loan
options that can be approved over

PROMINENCE IN MAJOR MARKETS

Being a leader in important sectors ensures that new and current
customers will look to us for their financing needs. We continue to build

the Internet. This leaves Dell free to

our leadership positions in fundamental industries such as textiles,

do what it does best — providing

construction, and transportation. At the same time, CIT is getting a head-

customers the best in servers,

start in new niches such as developing strong vendor relationships.

storage systems, notebooks and
services.

Factoring

We are the largest factoring company in the world, with over $25 billion
in annual volume and $5 billion in accounts receivable. Our clients range
from $2 million to $500 million in annual sales. Our factoring business
is growing through acquisitions and a good internal growth rate.
Construction

We increased CIT’s dominance in construction equipment through a new
relationship with Europe’s largest manufacturer, JCB Inc. The Londonbased company recently opened a major facility near Savannah, Georgia,
to more effectively tap its biggest export market, North America. CIT is
an integral part of this initiative through a jointly owned company that
provides JCB’s U.S. dealers with financing for new and used products.
Aerospace

CIT deepened its commitment to aerospace with plans to add 88 new
airplanes from Airbus and Boeing over the next five years. Our portfolio

7
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“The team of professionals at Dell

Maintaining “best-in-class” credit standards

now has over 250 commercial aircraft, which are leased to over 90
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regional and international airlines, such as British Airways and Delta.
Rail

Europe’s largest construction
equipment manufacturer, J.C.
Bamford Excavators Ltd., had
been using CIT to help finance its
backhoes and material handlers

CIT has the most modern and diversified rail fleet in the world, with

in the U.S. for years. But that

$2 billion in assets consisting of over 45,000 rail cars and over 400

relationship took a quantum leap

locomotives. Our leading position in rail transport is only strengthened by
rising fuel and trucking costs.

when JCB, a U.K. based company,
recently opened a major manufacturing facility near Savannah,
Georgia to produce American-

Small Business

made machines for what was

CIT has become the country’s top small-business lender through our

previously its biggest export

acquisition of Newcourt Credit Group, Inc. The U.S. Small Business
Administration credited CIT with a fiscal 2000 loan value of $469 million
lent to 1,012 businesses nationwide.

market – North America. Through
a jointly owned company, CIT will
provide financing for JCB’s North
American sales. “By combining
resources, we can look after our

Vendor Finance

Last but hardly least, CIT is rapidly developing more vendor financing
arrangements, that is, teaming up with manufacturers and dealers to
provide flexible financing for their products. Our increased global capaci-

customers not just as a finance
expert or an equipment expert,
but as a complete team to bring
the right product to the right
market in the right configuration,”

ties enable us to support partners who operate internationally and has

says Sir Anthony Bamford,

attracted some exciting companies in high-growth technologies. We

JCB’s Chairman.

launched strategic alliances with Agilent Technologies Inc., a global
maker of leading-edge measurement equipment, and Avaya
Communication, a provider of communications and networking solutions
to businesses worldwide. We also extended an existing relationship with
top international computer maker, Dell Computer Corporation.
THE POWER OF PARTNERSHIPS

Going forward, these vendor relationships will be invaluable sources of
stable, strong revenue because our interests are merged with theirs in a
relationship that is, quite frankly, hard to replace. CIT’s strategic alliances,
such as Dell Financial Services, provide our partners with financing
options and account management for their customers under their own
brand name. Dell, in turn, provides us with an extensive sales force, which

9
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Avaya sells communications
systems and services to a broad
array of clients — large and small
and non-profits. Avaya’s program

enues. In the future, manufacturers will increasingly need to offer flexible
financing as part of their sales package so customers can keep pace with
changing technologies.

with CIT, Avaya Financial Services
(AFS), offers a flexible range of
products that can be tailored to
the specific needs of each.
AFS can rely on CIT for special

INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

CIT employees bring such expertise to the industries they serve that they
readily grasp opportunities that wouldn’t occur to — or be feasible for —

support, such as forming a

our competitors. For example, CIT staffers knowledgeable about energy

syndication for large purchases

industry economics were able to devise a unique financing arrangement

involving several different product

for Electric City Corp., a Chicago company that makes machines to

suppliers. “They’re invaluable in
helping us sell our products,”
says Avaya Vice President and

reduce electric consumption without sacrificing adequate lighting. The
company will install its EnergySaver unit at customers’ facilities at no

Treasurer Rhonda Seegal. “They

charge. The customers can save up to 30% on electric costs and share

know our products inside out, so

some of that savings with Electric City through a financing vehicle

they can help offer a competitive

arranged by CIT. Moreover, in exchange for the free machine, customers

package in different markets.”

will let Electric City reduce consumption on peak demand days
(without inconvenience to the client) and receive incentive payments
from the utility.
AN E-COMMERCE EDGE

CIT continues to expand its use of technology and e-commerce to streamline our operations and enhance client contact and convenience. While
our efforts are companywide, each Group has launched initiatives
specific to their client base.
Specialty Finance (formerly Consumer Finance)

This Group provides a robust suite of Internet capabilities designed to
serve various consumer and commercial markets. “BrokerEdgesm” empowers the mortgage lending industry with the ability to conduct business via
the Internet. It enables mortgage brokers to submit loan applications,
review application status, access product and pricing information as well
as manage their online pipelines. Since January 2000, over $5 billion in
home equity loan applications have been processed through BrokerEdge.
Virtually all of CIT’s home equity business is originated in this manner.

11
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businesses, government agencies,

markets our products along with theirs and shares in our financing rev-

The newest release of this site, called BrokerEdgePLUS, will include addi-
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tional services such as appraisal transmittal capabilities, electronic closing
documents and expanded broker management tools. By continually providing expanded functionality through the Internet, BrokerEdge facilitates
deeper and broader relationships with mortgage brokers.

Electric City Corp. builds a
machine that gives commercial
tenants substantial savings on
electricity without sacrificing
adequate lighting. CEO John
Mitola chose CIT over competitors
because of the group’s “keen

Equipment Financing

This division recently enhanced its eFinanceIt.com web site which offers
customers real-time access to critical account information, as well as

knowledge of energy industry
economics.“ That know-how led to
an innovative financing solution
that benefits not just Electric City

industry related data. Customers can monitor portfolio activity, and follow

and CIT, but power users, brokers,

a transaction through the entire credit process – from application to

and even the environment. “We

approval, and then through the complete asset management phase.
eFinanceIt.com also operates as an online “back-office” enhancement for
a number of CIT’s customers. In addition, prospects and customers alike
can search a database of over 1,000 pieces of pre-owned equipment for
sale in over 20 different industries.
Commercial Finance

Over 80% of CIT's factoring clients use the Internet to transmit data and
communicate with CIT. In addition, we have formed alliances with over
two dozen web sites in an effort to develop the Internet into an alternative distribution channel for our commercial finance services.
DIVERSITY

Increasing scope and diversity keeps CIT on course through changing
times. This diversity is both broad and deep: our operations are spread
across different asset types, financial products, customers, industries, and
geographical regions. They reach into every domestic region of the U.S.the midwest, west, south, north, and east-as well as across U.S. borders
into Canada, Mexico, and beyond. We serve clients in the small-, middle-,
and large-ticket market segments. Our high credit quality, low charge-off
rate, quality earnings, and superbly managed risk all give us tremendous access to financial markets and lenders.

wanted a true financial partner,
not just someone who would do a
deal and move on,” says Mitola.
“CIT has become a strategic financial partner to us.”

13
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Fashion retailer Kenneth Cole
manages its resources wisely right
down to the nuts and bolts of
ny’s bookkeeping and collection

To sum up, in 2001, we’re running with a broader, deeper, more
adaptable organization.
I have great confidence in our performance prospects as we concen-

functions. “We can’t take the

trate on our priorities, and I am proud to say we can count on the people

time to check the credit of every

of our organization to get us where we want to go.

retailer we deal with, and CIT has
such a large customer base that
it knows practically every retailer

This is a truly impressive group, whose tremendous talent, dedication,
experience, and just plain hard work have brought us far and will take us

in the country,” says Kenneth

profitably into business markets that have yet to be developed. I wish to

Cole CFO Stan Mayer. “Without

thank all CIT employees, our Board Members, investors, and our clients

them, I’d have to pay for credit

for their constant and strong support.

insurance and 15 people doing
checks and handling collections.”

AN EXCITING ALLIANCE

As we go to press, we’re announcing exciting news: Tyco International
Ltd., a diversified manufacturing and service company, will acquire CIT
in a tax-free stock-for-stock exchange. Tyco needed a financing capability
to support its growing worldwide businesses, and acquiring CIT, a fully
established leader in commercial finance, proved the most efficient
solution. CIT will be its own profit center within Tyco, and I will remain
CEO and President of CIT, as well as joining Tyco’s Board of Directors.
This transaction provides an exceptional opportunity for our shareholders
to participate in Tyco’s future growth. Both companies have leadership
positions in key industries, highly diversified revenues, and strong
operating platforms. The combination of our wide-ranging product offering and Tyco’s diversified customer base creates tremendous financing
opportunities and growth prospects. It also enhances our competitiveness
and access to capital. This is a very exciting opportunity for both
companies, our investors, and our customers.

Albert R. Gamper, Jr.
Chairman, President and CEO

15
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

The following table summarizes our net income and related
data.
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

Dollars in Millions

Net income
$611.6
$389.4
Earnings per diluted share (EPS) $ 2.33
$ 2.22
Earnings per diluted share
excluding goodwill
amortization
$ 2.62
$ 2.33
Return on average stockholders’
equity (ROE)
10.7%
12.0%
Return on average stockholders’
equity excluding goodwill
amortization
12.0%
12.6%
Return on average tangible
stockholders’ equity (ROTE)
16.0%
14.2%
Return on average earning
assets (ROA)
1.50%
1.52%
Return on average earning assets
excluding goodwill
amortization
1.69%
1.60%

17

$338.8
$ 2.08

$ 2.11
13.2%

13.6%
14.0%
1.65%

1.70%

Managed assets totaled $54.9 billion at December 31, 2000,
$51.4 billion at December 31, 1999, and $26.2 billion at December 31, 1998, while financing and leasing portfolio assets totaled
$43.8 billion, $40.4 billion and $23.7 billion at December 31,
2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The increase in both managed
and portfolio assets over 1999 reflects increased volume of originations across all business segments, which was dampened by
continued pricing discipline and by the sale of over $1 billion of
non-strategic assets during the year. For the year 2000, financing
and leasing assets grew 8.1% in the commercial segments and
10.5% in the Consumer segment, with a 6.1% increase in finance
receivables and a 17.4% increase in operating leases. In the commercial segments, 2000 growth, excluding the effect of asset
transfers, was particularly strong in Structured Finance and Vendor Technology Finance, while our Consumer growth was driven
by gains in the recreational vehicle and home equity portfolios.
The 1999 increase of 96.2% in managed assets over 1998 reflects
primarily the acquisitions made in 1999. The remainder of the
1999 increase reflects strong new business volume, offset by a
drop in Consumer assets due to our decision to discontinue and
liquidate our recreational boat and wholesale inventory finance
portfolios. See “FINANCING AND LEASING ASSETS” for
additional information.
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For the year ended December 31, 2000, our net income totaled
a record $611.6 million, increasing from $389.4 million in 1999
and $338.8 million in 1998. The 2000 earnings represented the
thirteenth consecutive increase in our annual earnings, and the
tenth consecutive year of record earnings. During the year, we
sought to improve CIT’s profitability by improving lower return
businesses or by identifying lower performing portfolios for sale
or liquidation, and by strengthening our pricing discipline. Additionally, the 2000 results reflect growth from 1999 acquisition
activities, solid fee and other income generation, as well as considerable expense savings related to operational integrations.
The improvements in 1999 over 1998 resulted from stronger revenues from a higher level of financing and leasing assets.
Earnings per diluted share increased from the preceding year
by 5.0% in 2000 and 6.7% in 1999. Earnings per share improved
considerably less than the corresponding increases in net income
due to 104.0 million shares issued in the acquisition of Newcourt
Credit Group Inc. (“Newcourt”) in November 1999. Excluding
the impact of goodwill amortization, earnings per diluted share
increased from the preceding year by 12.4% in 2000 and by
10.4% in 1999. Return on average tangible stockholders’ equity
improved to 16.0% in 2000 and 14.2% in 1999 from 14.0%
in 1998.
Information pertaining to 1999 reflects the results of acquired
operations from each acquisition date through year end. Segment data reflects the realignment of Vendor Technology
Finance and Structured Finance from the prior year Newcourt
segment, as reported in the 1999 10-K. In addition, during 2000
we continued to realign businesses and shift assets between business units, as $2,702.2 million of financing and leasing assets and
$2,902.2 million of managed assets were transferred from Vendor Technology Finance to Equipment Financing, and a $313.0
million telecommunications portfolio was transferred to Structured Finance from Equipment Financing. These transfers were
done to better align marketing and risk management efforts, to
further improve operating efficiencies, and to implement a more
uniform North American strategy.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

NET FINANCE MARGIN
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A comparison of the components of 2000, 1999, and 1998 net
finance margin is set forth below.
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

$ 5,248.4
2,497.7

$ 2,565.9
1,293.4

$ 2,015.1
1,040.8

Net finance income
Depreciation on
operating lease
equipment

2,750.7

1,272.5

974.3

1,281.3

355.1

169.5

Net finance margin

$ 1,469.4

$

$40,682.5

$25,583.0

Dollars in Millions

Finance income
Interest expense

Average earning
assets (“AEA”)
Net finance margin
as a % of AEA

3.61%

917.4

3.59%

$

804.8

$20,495.8
3.93%

Net finance margin increased 60.2% to $1,469.4 million in
2000 from 1999, and 14.0% in 1999 from 1998. The increase in
2000 primarily reflects growth in our loans, leases and operating
leases due to acquisitions. The increase in 1999 from 1998 was
due to acquisitions and strong internal business generation. As a
percentage of AEA, net finance margin was 3.61% in 2000 versus 3.59% and 3.93% in 1999 and 1998, respectively. Net finance
margin as a percentage of AEA increased from the prior year in
2000, as wider margins in our businesses acquired in 1999 more
than offset the impact of the continued growth in operating
leases. The operating leasing business, which generally has lower
initial net finance margins than finance receivables, also generates equipment gains, renewal fees and tax depreciation benefits.
Finance income totaled $5,248.4 million in 2000, $2,565.9
million in 1999 and $2,015.1 million in 1998. As a percentage of
AEA, finance income (excluding interest income related to
short-term interest-bearing deposits) was 12.69% in 2000, 9.88%
in 1999 and 9.69% in 1998. The increase in yield in 2000 and 1999
primarily reflected changes in product mix due to acquisitions
and the sale or liquidation of non-strategic, lower yielding assets.
Interest expense totaled $2,497.7 million in 2000, $1,293.4 million in 1999 and $1,040.8 million in 1998. As a percentage of AEA,
interest expense (excluding interest related to short-term interest-bearing deposits and dividends related to preferred capital
securities) was 5.92% in 2000, 4.91% in 1999 and 4.94% in 1998,
reflecting the impact of prevailing interest rates at the time of the
Newcourt acquisition, the rising interest rate environment
throughout most of 2000 and wider borrowing spreads over U.S.
Treasury rates in 2000. We seek to mitigate interest rate risk by
matching the repricing characteristics of our assets with our liabilities, which is in part done through portfolio management and
the use of derivative financial instruments, principally interest
rate swaps. For further discussion, see “RISK MANAGEMENT.”

The operating lease equipment portfolio was $7.2 billion at
December 31, 2000 versus $6.1 billion and $2.8 billion at December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998, respectively. As a result,
depreciation on operating lease equipment increased to $1,281.3
million in 2000, versus $355.1 million and $169.5 million in 1999
and 1998, respectively. As a percentage of average operating
leases, depreciation was 19.50%, 9.51%, and 7.66% in 2000, 1999
and 1998, respectively. The increase in 2000 over 1999 reflects the
full year impact of the acquired assets, which include smaller
ticket and shorter term leases. This more than offsets the impact
of an increase in airline and rail assets, with longer depreciable
lives, from 1998 to 2000 in the Equipment Financing and Leasing segment.

OTHER REVENUE
We continue to emphasize growth and diversification of our
other “non-spread” revenues to improve overall profitability of
CIT. Other revenue improved to $912.0 million during 2000,
from $350.8 million during 1999 and $255.4 million during 1998,
primarily due to the 1999 acquisition activity, as set forth in the
following table.
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

Fees and other income
Factoring commissions
Gains on sales of leasing
equipment
Gains on securitizations
Gains on venture capital
investments

$480.9
154.7

$161.0
118.7

$ 90.7
95.7

113.2
109.5

56.4
14.7

45.2
12.5

53.7

—

11.3

Total

$912.0

$350.8

$255.4

Dollars in Millions

Included in fees and other income are miscellaneous fees, syndication fees and gains from receivable sales. Receivable sales
increased primarily in our Consumer business, reflecting its
receivable origination and whole loan sale strategy to maximize
the value of our origination network. Miscellaneous fees
increased across all commercial segments during 2000; however,
the increase is primarily due to the 1999 acquisitions. Fees from
syndication activity in the acquired Structured Finance segment
also had a significant impact on the year over year increase. Factoring commissions were up due to the 1999 factoring acquisitions. Gains on sales of leasing equipment and securitizations
each increased due to higher volumes in 2000. We also benefited
from the maturation of certain venture capital investments and a
strong IPO market in the early part of the year. The 1999 increase
in other revenues from 1998 reflects primarily an increase in factoring commissions, due in part to the two acquisitions completed during the year, syndication fees from the Structured
Finance segment and gains recognized on sales of receivables.
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SALARIES AND GENERAL OPERATING EXPENSES

Years Ended December 31,

ratios exclude goodwill amortization and are set forth in the following table.
Years Ended December 31,

2000

Efficiency ratio
Salaries and general operating
expenses as a percentage
of AMA

1999

1998

43.8%

41.3%

39.2%

2.01%

1.75%

1.78%

The lower efficiency (higher ratio) in 2000 and 1999 from 1998
reflects the impact of the Newcourt acquisition, as that company’s
efficiency ratio was historically significantly higher than CIT’s.
Integration cost savings and efficiency enhancements improved
the efficiency ratio for the year 2000 to 43.8% from the 48.3% level
for the 1999 fourth quarter, when the acquisition was completed.

GOODWILL AMORTIZATION
Goodwill amortization was $86.3 million in 2000 versus $25.7
million and $10.1 million in 1999 and 1998, respectively, reflecting the full year impact of the 1999 acquisitions, all of which were
accounted for under the purchase method.

PROVISION AND RESERVE FOR CREDIT LOSSES/
CREDIT QUALITY
The provision for credit losses was $255.2 million for 2000, $110.3
million for 1999, and $99.4 million for 1998. Net charge-offs were
$235.6 million for 2000, $95.0 million for 1999, and $78.8 million
for 1998. Our net charge-off experience, in amount and as a percentage of finance receivables, is provided in the following table.

2000

1999

1998

Dollars in Millions

Equipment Financing and Leasing
Vendor Technology Finance
Commercial Finance
Structured Finance
Total Commercial Segments
Consumer
Total

$102.9
31.7
46.2
0.4
181.2
54.4
$235.6

The increase in Equipment Financing and Leasing net credit
losses primarily reflects the impact of acquired assets. The
increase in 2000 in Commercial Finance net credit losses primarily reflects one food wholesaler account charged-off in 2000.
The 1999 increase over 1998 in Commercial Finance was due to
high recoveries in 1998.
Our consolidated reserve for credit losses increased to $468.5
million (1.40% of finance receivables) at December 31, 2000
from $446.9 million (1.44%) at December 31, 1999 and $263.7
million (1.33%) at December 31, 1998, as we recorded provisions

0.71%
0.54
0.60
0.03
0.62
1.32
0.71%

$16.7
—
29.0
—
45.7
49.3
$95.0

0.16%
—
0.47
—
0.25
1.19
0.42%

$18.2
—
14.8
—
33.0
45.8
$78.8

0.18%
—
0.31
—
0.22
1.18
0.42%

of $19.6 million, $15.3 million and $20.6 million in excess of net
charge-offs during 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The
increase in the 2000 and 1999 ratio of reserve to receivables from
1998 reflects the acquired assets, which carried a higher reserve
percentage than CIT’s historical ratio, and is commensurate with
this historically higher past due loan and charge-off profile. The
decrease in the ratio of reserve to finance receivables in 2000
from 1999, reflects product mix changes as well as the implementation of CIT credit standards in the acquired portfolios.

19

CIT ANNUAL REPORT 2000

Salaries and general operating expenses were $1,035.2 million in
2000, $516.0 million in 1999, and $407.7 million in 1998.
Expenses were up significantly in 2000 due to the prior year
acquisitions, with the largest portion of this increase in employee
costs and facilities expenses. Integration cost savings exceeded
our original forecast of $150 million in annual cost savings from
pre-acquisition levels. These cost savings were the result of an
integration plan established in connection with the acquisition
that identified certain real estate locations for elimination, as well
as involuntary employee terminations.
Our personnel decreased to approximately 7,355 at December
31, 2000 from 8,255 at December 31, 1999 due to integration
reductions. This compared to 3,230 at December 31, 1998,
reflecting the 1999 acquisitions.
We manage expenditures using a comprehensive budgetary
process. Expenses are monitored closely by business unit management and are reviewed monthly with our senior management.
To ensure overall project cost control, an approval and review procedure is in place for major capital expenditures, such as computer equipment and software, including post-implementation
evaluations.
The efficiency ratio and the ratio of salaries and general operating expenses to average managed assets (“AMA”) are two measurements that management uses to monitor productivity. AMA
is comprised of average earning assets plus the average of finance
receivables previously securitized and still managed by us. These
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Our consolidated reserve for credit losses is periodically
reviewed for adequacy considering economic conditions, collateral values and credit quality indicators, including charge-off
experience and levels of past due loans and non-performing
assets. It is management’s judgment that the consolidated
reserve for credit losses is adequate to provide for credit losses
inherent in the portfolios. We review finance receivables periodically to determine the probability of loss, and take charge-offs
after considering such factors as delinquencies, the financial condition of obligors, the value of underlying collateral, as well as
third party credit enhancements such as guarantees and recourse
from manufacturers. Charge-offs are recorded on consumer
receivables and certain small ticket commercial finance receivables beginning at 180 days of contractual delinquency based
At December 31,

upon historical loss severity. The consolidated reserve for credit
losses is intended to provide for losses inherent in the portfolio,
which requires the application of estimates and significant judgement as to the ultimate outcome of collection efforts and realization of collateral, among other things. Therefore, changes in
economic conditions or other events affecting specific obligors or
industries may necessitate additions or deductions to the consolidated reserve for credit losses.

PAST DUE AND NON-PERFORMING ASSETS
The following table sets forth certain information concerning our
past due and non-performing assets (and the related percentages
of finance receivables) at December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998.

2000

1999

1998

Dollars in Millions

Finance receivables, past due 60 days or more:
Equipment Financing and Leasing
Vendor Technology Finance
Commercial Finance
Structured Finance
Total Commercial Segments
Consumer

$399.8
184.9
107.9
96.2
788.8
211.1

2.88%
3.07
1.40
5.59
2.69
5.03

$209.6
314.9
64.0
61.5
650.0
189.1(1)

1.93%
4.16
0.91
4.12

$149.9
—
32.1
—

2.42
4.62(1)

182.0
166.0

1.41%
—
0.64
—
1.17
3.89

Total

$999.9

2.98%

$839.1

2.71%

$348.0

1.75%

Non-performing assets:
Equipment Financing and Leasing
Vendor Technology Finance
Commercial Finance
Structured Finance

$351.0
93.9
65.3
118.6

2.53%
1.56
0.85
6.90

$139.9
247.9
27.6
61.5

1.29%
3.27
0.39
4.12

$135.2
—
14.5
—

1.27%
—
0.29
—

1.77
3.87(1)

149.7
129.0

2.05%

$278.7

Total Commercial Segments
Consumer
Total

628.8
199.3
$828.1

2.15
4.75
2.47%

476.9
158.5(1)
$635.4

0.96
3.02
1.40%

(1) For these calculations, certain finance receivables held for sale and the associated past due and non-performing balances are included.

Non-performing assets reflect both finance receivables on
non-accrual status and assets received in satisfaction of loans.
The 2000 increase from 1999 in our Equipment Financing and
Leasing segment delinquency and non-performing asset ratios
was in large part due to the acquired assets, which historically
carried a higher level of delinquency and non-performing assets,
as well as an increase in trucking industry delinquencies and nonperforming assets. The increase in Structured Finance delinquency and non-performing assets from December 31, 1999 was
primarily due to one account which was classified as non-performing during the fourth quarter of 2000. In 1999, Equipment
Financing and Leasing past due loans increased, but non-performing assets remained relatively stable at 1.29%. The increase
in 1999 Equipment Financing and Leasing past dues also
included three commercial aircraft that became past due in the
fourth quarter. The increases in Commercial Finance in 2000
past due and non-performing balances was due to the over 20%

growth in the Business Credit unit and economic softening in
various markets.
The increases, in both 2000 and 1999 Consumer past due and
non-performing accounts are due to softening in the manufactured housing market.

INCOME TAXES
The provision for federal, foreign and state and local income
taxes totaled $373.9 million in 2000, compared with $207.6 million in 1999, and $185.0 million in 1998. The effective income tax
rate for 2000 was 37.9%, compared with 34.8% in 1999, and
35.3% in 1998, primarily as a result of an increase in nondeductible goodwill amortization and foreign taxes, partially
offset by lower state and local taxes.
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RESULTS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

For the Years Ended December 31,

2000

our origination network. The increased corporate expense in
2000 over 1999 included higher goodwill amortization and
higher corporate interest expense.
Net income for 1999 improved $50.6 million or 14.9% from
1998, as all of our original business segments improved from 1998.
Both the Equipment Financing and Leasing and Commercial
Finance segments improved approximately 19% from 1998, due
to the continuation of strong asset growth. The Commercial
Finance segment results also reflected two 1999 acquisitions. The
Consumer segment earnings grew by 35% and benefited from
improved efficiency and gains on receivable sales. The increased
corporate expense in 1999 over 1998 included higher goodwill
amortization, and higher corporate interest expense.
The table below summarizes selected financial information by
business segment, based upon a fixed leverage ratio across business units and the allocation of a majority of corporate expenses.
Net Income
1999

Return on AEA
1999
1998

1998

2000
1.42%
1.91
3.03
4.04

1.65%
—(1)
3.35
—(1)

1.59%
—(1)
3.36
—

Dollars in Millions

Equipment Financing and Leasing
Vendor Technology Finance
Commercial Finance
Structured Finance
Total Commercial Segments
Consumer
Total Segments
Corporate
Total

$ 287.8
148.9
161.8
89.6

$231.5
7.5
141.4
—

$193.9
—
119.1
—

688.1
73.3

380.4
60.0

313.0
44.3

1.93
1.45

1.85
1.18

1.98
0.99

761.4
(149.8)

440.4
(51.0)

357.3
(18.5)

1.87
—(1)

1.72
—(1)

1.74
—(1)

$389.4

$338.8

1.50%

1.52%

1.65%

$ 611.6

(1) These percentages are not meaningful.

FINANCING AND LEASING ASSETS
Our managed assets grew $3.5 billion (6.7%), to $54.9 billion in
2000, and grew $25.2 billion (96.2%) to $51.4 billion in 1999, due
primarily to acquisitions. Financing and leasing assets that we own
grew $3.4 billion (8.4%) to $43.8 billion in 2000, and grew $16.7
billion (70.4%) to $40.4 billion in 1999. Managed assets include
finance receivables, operating lease equipment, finance receivables held for sale, certain investments, and finance receivables
previously securitized and still managed by us.
In connection with the integration of Newcourt, we transferred various assets among our business units to better align core
competencies, gain scale, raise efficiency and improve profitability. During 2000, we transferred $1,713.3 million of finance
receivables, $988.9 million of operating leases and $2,902.2 million of securitized assets from Vendor Technology Finance to
Equipment Financing. Also, a telecommunications portfolio
totaling $313.0 million was transferred to Structured Finance
from Equipment Financing. These transfers are in addition to
1999 movements when finance receivables of $2,149.4 million

and operating leases of $208.4 million were transferred to
Equipment Financing from Vendor Technology Finance and
$229.4 million of finance receivables and $4.4 million of operating leases were transferred to Vendor Technology Finance from
Equipment Financing. Additionally, in 1999, $231.3 million of
finance receivables were transferred to Capital Finance from
Structured Finance.
Excluding the impact of asset transfers in 2000, Vendor Technology Finance and Structured Finance portfolio assets grew at
a rate of 12.8% and 14.9%, respectively, during the year, while
Commercial Finance was up 9.9%. Consumer managed assets
were flat year 2000 over 1999; however, on an owned basis
(excluding the liquidating portfolio), assets were up 15.5% as no
consumer asset-backed securitizations were completed in 2000.
Business volume, excluding factoring, was $25.3 billion in
2000, up from $13.2 billion in 1999, as volume was strong across
all commercial segments and in the Consumer home equity
portfolio.
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In Equipment Financing and Leasing, net income increased
24.3% from 1999, as the dollar amounts of increased margin and
non-spread revenues more than offset higher charge-offs and
operating expenses. As a percentage of AEA, Equipment
Financing and Leasing net income dropped from 1999, as the
relative revenue and spread improvements fell short of credit
provisions and operating expense increases. The increased net
income in 2000 over 1999 for Equipment Financing and Leasing, as well as the return on AEA trends, reflect the transfers of
acquired assets. Commercial Finance net income improved
14.4% from 1999, and reflected increased factoring commissions, largely from the 1999 acquisitions. Consumer segment
earnings grew by 22.2% and benefited from improved efficiency
and gains on receivable sales. Whole loan sales are part of our
ongoing Consumer business strategy to maximize the value of
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The managed assets of our business segments and the corresponding strategic business units are presented in the following table,
and reflect the previously discussed transfers between business units.
2000

At December 31,
1999

1998

% Change
‘00 vs ‘99 ‘99 vs ‘98

Dollars in Millions

Equipment Financing:
Finance receivables
Operating lease equipment, net
Total

$12,153.7
2,280.7

$10,899.3
1,066.2

$ 8,497.6
765.1

11.5%
113.9

28.3%
39.4

14,434.4

11,965.5

9,262.7

20.6

29.2

Capital Finance:
Finance receivables
Operating lease equipment, net
Liquidating portfolio (1)

1,863.1
3,594.6
185.9

1,838.0
2,931.8
281.4

1,655.4
1,982.0
466.9

1.4
22.6
(33.9)

11.0
47.9
(39.7)

Total

5,643.6

5,051.2

4,104.3

11.7

23.1
27.3

Total Equipment Financing and
Leasing Segment

20,078.0

17,016.7

13,367.0

18.0

Vendor Technology Finance:
Finance receivables
Operating lease equipment, net

6,864.5
1,256.5

7,488.9
2,108.8

—
—

(8.3)
(40.4)

—(3)
—(3)

Total Vendor Technology Finance
Segment

8,121.0

9,597.7

—

(15.4)

—(3)

Commercial Services
Business Credit

4,277.9
3,415.8

4,165.1
2,837.0

2,481.8
2,514.4

2.7
20.4

67.8
12.8

Total Commercial Finance Segment

7,693.7

7,002.1

4,996.2

9.9

40.1

Structured Finance:
Finance receivables
Operating lease equipment, net
Other—Equity Investments

2,347.3
58.8
285.8

1,933.9
—
137.3

—
—
81.9

21.4
—
108.2

Total Structured Finance Segment

—(3)
—
67.6

2,691.9

2,071.2

81.9

30.0

38,584.6

35,687.7

18,445.1

8.1

93.5

Consumer:
Home equity
Manufactured housing
Recreational vehicles
Liquidating portfolio (2)

2,451.7
1,802.1
648.0
298.2

2,215.4
1,666.9
361.2
462.8

2,244.4
1,417.5
744.0
848.4

10.7
8.1
79.4
(35.6)

(1.3)
17.6
(51.5)
(45.5)

Total Consumer Segment

Total Commercial Segments

—(3)

5,200.0

4,706.3

5,254.3

10.5

(10.4)

TOTAL FINANCING AND LEASING
PORTFOLIO ASSETS

43,784.6

40,394.0

23,699.4

8.4

70.4

Finance receivables previously securitized:
Commercial
Consumer
Consumer liquidating portfolio (2)

9,075.9
1,582.7
457.7

8,471.5
1,987.0
580.8

—
2,025.0
491.9

7.1
(20.3)
(21.2)

Total
TOTAL MANAGED ASSETS

11,116.3

11,039.3

2,516.9

$54,900.9

$51,433.3

$26,216.3

0.7
6.7%

(1) Consists primarily of ocean going maritime and project finance. Capital Finance discontinued marketing to these sectors in 1997.
(2) Consists of recreational boat and wholesale loan product lines, which we exited in 1999.
(3) These percentages are not meaningful.

—(3)
(1.9)
18.1
338.6
96.2%
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CONCENTRATIONS

dispersed, with no other individual country exposure greater
than 0.8% of financing and leasing assets.

Financing and Leasing Assets Composition

Industry Composition
The following table presents our financing and leasing assets by
major industry class.
At December 31,

2000
Amount Percent

1999
Amount
Percent

Dollars in Millions

Geographic Composition
The following table presents our financing and leasing assets by
customer location.
At December 31,

2000
Amount Percent

1999
Amount
Percent

Dollars in Millions

United States:
Northeast
West
Midwest
Southeast
Southwest
Total United States
Foreign:
Canada
All other
Total

$ 9,099.3
8,336.9
7,723.1
6,228.6
4,940.3

20.8%
19.0
17.6
14.2
11.4

$ 8,257.2
7,594.0
7,042.7
5,380.5
4,426.1

20.5%
18.8
17.4
13.3
11.0

36,328.2

83.0

32,700.5

81.0

2,357.4
5,099.0

5.4
11.6

2,797.5
4,896.0

6.9
12.1

$43,784.6

100.0%

$40,394.0

100.0%

Our managed asset geographic diversity does not differ significantly from our owned asset geographic composition.
Our financing and leasing asset portfolio in the United States is
diversified by state. At December 31, 2000, with the exception of
California (10.4% of financing and leasing assets), Texas (7.9%),
and New York (6.9%), no state represented more than 4.6% of
financing and leasing assets. Our 1998 managed and owned asset
geographic composition did not significantly differ from our 1999
managed and owned asset geographic composition.
Financing and leasing assets to foreign obligors totaled $7.5
billion at December 31, 2000. After Canada, $2.4 billion (5.4%
of financing and leasing assets), the largest foreign exposures
were to England, $1.2 billion (2.8%), and Australia, $399.6 million (0.9%). Our remaining foreign exposure was geographically
dispersed, with no other individual country exposure greater
than 0.8% of financing and leasing assets.
At December 31, 1999, financing and leasing assets to foreign
obligors totaled $7.7 billion. After Canada, $2.8 billion (6.9% of
financing and leasing assets), the largest foreign exposures were
to England, $1.6 billion (4.0%), and Australia, $397.6 million
(1.0%). Our remaining foreign exposure was geographically

Manufacturing (1)
(no industry
greater than
2.6%)
$ 8,787.2
Retail (2)
4,211.3
Commercial
airlines
3,557.2
Transportation (3)
3,431.0
Construction
equipment
2,697.8
Home mortgage
2,451.7
Service industries
1,987.1
Manufactured
housing
1,802.1
Communications
1,496.7
Wholesaling
1,445.0
Other (no industry
greater than
2.6%)
11,917.5
Total

$43,784.6

20.1%
9.6

$ 8,566.5
4,032.0

21.2%
10.0

8.1
7.8

3,091.2
3,348.2

7.7
8.3

6.2
5.6
4.5

2,697.0
2,215.4
1,768.1

6.7
5.5
4.4

4.1
3.4
3.3

1,666.9
1,372.6
1,303.6

4.1
3.4
3.2

27.3

10,332.5

25.5

100.0%

$40,394.0

100.0%

(1) Includes manufacturers of textiles and apparel, industrial machinery
and equipment, electrical and electronic equipment, and other
industries.
(2) Includes retailers of apparel (3.8%) and general merchandise
(2.6%).
(3) Includes rail, bus, over-the-road trucking industries, and business
aircraft.

Our telecommunications portfolio is included in “Communications” in the industry composition table above. This portfolio
is included in our Structured Finance segment and totals approximately $690 million at December 31, 2000, comprising approximately 1.6% of total financing and leasing assets, of which 10.0%
are on non-accrual status. This portfolio consists of 60 accounts
with an average balance of $11.4 million. The 10 largest accounts
in the portfolio aggregate $277 million with the largest single
account under $50.0 million. Our telecommunications transactions are collateralized by the assets of the customer (equipment,
receivable, cash, etc.) and are also secured by a pledge of all of
the stock of the non-public companies.
Our 1998 managed and owned asset industry composition did
not differ significantly from our 1999 managed and owned asset
industry composition.
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Our ten largest financing and leasing asset accounts in the aggregate represented 3.9% of our total financing and leasing assets at
December 31, 2000 (with the largest account representing less
than 1%) and 3.7% at December 31, 1999. All ten accounts were
commercial accounts and were secured by equipment, accounts
receivable and/or inventory.
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Our business activities contain various elements of risk. We consider the principal types of risk to be credit risk (including credit,
collateral and equipment risk) and market risk (including interest
rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk).
We consider the management of risk essential to conducting
our commercial and consumer businesses and to maintaining
profitability. Accordingly, our risk management systems and procedures are designed to identify and analyze risks, to set appropriate policies and limits and to continually monitor these risks
and limits by means of reliable administrative and information
systems and other policies and programs.
We review and monitor credit exposures, both owned and
managed, on an ongoing basis to identify, as early as possible,
those customers that may be experiencing declining creditworthiness or financial difficulty, and periodically evaluate our
finance receivables across the entire organization. We monitor
concentrations by borrower, industry, geographic region and
equipment type and management adjusts limits as conditions
warrant to seek to minimize the risk of credit loss.
Our Asset Quality Review Committee is comprised of members of senior management, including the Chief Risk Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer. Periodically, the Committee meets
with senior executives of our strategic business units and corporate credit risk management group to review portfolio status and
performance, as well as the status of individual financing and
leasing assets, owned and managed, greater than $500,000 to
obligors with higher risk profiles. In addition, this committee
periodically meets with the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CIT to review overall credit risk, including geographic,
industry and customer concentrations.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
We have developed systems specifically designed to manage
credit risk in our Commercial and Consumer business segments.
We evaluate financing and leasing assets for credit and collateral
risk during the credit granting process and periodically after the
advancement of funds.
In response to our growing businesses, we formed a corporate
credit risk management group, which reports to the Chief Risk
Officer, in the fourth quarter of 1999 to oversee and manage
credit risk throughout CIT. This group’s structure includes senior
credit executive alignment with each of the business units, as well
as a senior executive with corporate-wide asset recovery and
work-out responsibilities. This group reviews large transactions,
non-traditional transactions and transactions which are outside
of established target market definitions and risk acceptance
criteria or which exceed the strategic business units’ credit
authority. In addition, our Executive Credit Committee, which
includes the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief

Risk Officer, three members of the corporate credit risk management group and two group Chief Executive Officers,
approves credits that are beyond the authority of the business
units. The credit risk management group also includes an
independent credit audit function.
Each of our strategic business units has developed and implemented a formal credit management process in accordance with
formal uniform guidelines established by the credit risk management group. These guidelines set forth risk acceptance criteria for:
• acceptable maximum credit line;
• selected target markets and products;
• creditworthiness of borrowers, including credit history,
financial condition, adequacy of cash flow and quality of
management; and
• the type and value of underlying collateral and guarantees
(including recourse from dealers and manufacturers.)
We also employ a risk adjusted pricing process where the perceived credit risk is a factor in determining the interest rate
and/or fees charged for our financing and leasing products. As
economic and market conditions change, credit risk management practices are reviewed and modified, if necessary, to seek
to minimize the risk of credit loss.
For small ticket business originated in our Vendor Technology
Finance segment and the Consumer segment, we utilize automated credit scoring capabilities. In these proprietary models,
we utilize statistical techniques in analyzing customer attributes,
including industry and corporate data, trade payment history,
and other credit bureau information. Model scores are measured
against actual delinquency and loss experience. Modifications
are made to the models based upon this monitoring effort
as appropriate. The design and monitoring of these automated
statistical models is led by our Management Science Group,
staffed by specialists with considerable experience and expertise
in this discipline.
Compliance with established corporate policies and procedures and the credit management processes at each strategic
business unit are reviewed by the credit audit group. The credit
audit group examines adherence with established credit policies
and procedures and tests for inappropriate credit practices,
including whether potential problem accounts are being
detected and reported on a timely basis. The credit audit group
reports to the Chief Risk Officer and to the Audit Committee.

EQUIPMENT/RESIDUAL RISK MANAGEMENT
We have developed systems, processes and expertise to manage
the equipment and residual risk in our Commercial segments.
Our process consists of a four-pronged approach: 1) residual setting and valuation at deal inception, 2) approvals and authorizations, 3) systematic residual reviews, and 4) monitoring of
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models are regularly reviewed for effectiveness utilizing statistical tools. We regularly evaluate the consumer loan portfolio using
past due, vintage curve and other statistical tools to analyze trends
and credit performance by loan type, including analysis of specific
credit characteristics and other selected subsets of the portfolios.
Adjustments to credit scorecards and lending programs are made
when deemed appropriate. Individual underwriters are assigned
credit authority based upon their experience, performance and
understanding of the underwriting policies and procedures of our
consumer operations and a credit approval hierarchy exists to
ensure that all applications are reviewed by an underwriter with
the appropriate level of authority.
See “PROVISION AND RESERVE FOR CREDIT
LOSSES/CREDIT QUALITY.”

COMMERCIAL

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

We have developed systems specifically designed to effectively
manage credit risk in our Commercial segments. The process
starts with the initial evaluation of credit risk and underlying collateral at the time of origination and continues over the life of the
finance receivable or operating lease, including collecting past
due balances and liquidating underlying collateral.
Credit personnel of the applicable strategic business unit
review each potential borrower’s financial condition, results of
operations, management, industry, customer base, operations,
collateral and other data, such as third party credit reports, to
thoroughly evaluate the customer’s borrowing and repayment
ability. Borrowers are graded according to credit quality based
upon our uniform credit grading system, which grades both the
borrower’s financial condition and the underlying collateral.
Credit facilities are subject to approval within our overall credit
approval and underwriting guidelines and are issued commensurate with the credit evaluation performed on each borrower.
As mentioned previously, senior business unit and credit risk
management are actively involved in the ongoing, disciplined
asset quality review process.

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in values of
financial instruments, including interest rate risk, foreign
exchange risk, derivative credit risk and liquidity risk. We engage
in transactions in the normal course of business that expose us to
market risks, and we maintain what we believe are conservative
management practices and policies designed to effectively mitigate such risks. The objectives of our market risk management
efforts are to preserve company value by hedging changes in
future expected net cash flows and to decrease the cost of capital. Strategies for managing market risks associated with changes
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates are an integral part of
the process, since those strategies affect our future expected cash
flows as well as our cost of capital.
Our Capital Committee sets policies, oversees and guides the
interest rate and currency risk management process, including
establishment and monitoring of risk metrics, and ensures the
implementation of those policies. Other risks monitored by the
Capital Committee include derivative credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Capital Committee is comprised of members of senior
management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, and the
Controller. Business unit executives also serve on the Capital
Committee on a rotating basis.

CONSUMER AND SMALL-TICKET LEASING
We have developed proprietary automated credit scoring models
by loan type that include both customer demographics and credit
bureau characteristics. The profiles emphasize, among other
things, occupancy status, length of residence, length of employment, debt to income ratio (ratio of total installment debt and
housing expenses to gross monthly income), bank account references, credit bureau information and combined loan to value
ratio. The models are used to assess a potential borrower’s credit
standing and repayment ability considering the value or adequacy
of property offered as collateral. Our credit criteria include
reliance on credit scores, including those based upon both our
proprietary internal credit scoring model and external credit
bureau scoring, combined with judgment. The credit scoring

Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Risk Management — We
offer a variety of financing products to our customers including
fixed and floating-rate loans of various maturities and currency
denominations, and a variety of leases, including operating
leases. Changes in market interest rates, or in the relationships
between short-term and long-term market interest rates, or in
the relationships between different interest rate indices (i.e.,
basis risk) can affect the interest rates charged on interestearning assets differently than the interest rates paid on interestbearing liabilities, which can result in an increase in interest
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residual realizations. Over time, we have developed experienced
internal equipment management specialists, as well as external
consultant networks, who understand equipment values. We
believe this to be one of our core competencies. These specialists set values in our larger-ticket transactional business, and
develop standard residual matrices for our lower-ticket, highervolume transaction business. Transactions outside of these standard residual matrices, or transactions over certain dollar limits,
must be approved by various combinations of business unit management or Corporate risk management. Reviews for impairment are performed at least annually. Residual realizations, by
business unit and product, are reviewed as part of our ongoing
financial and asset quality review, both within the business units
and by Corporate management.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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expense relative to finance income. We measure our asset/liability position in economic terms through duration measures and
value at risk analysis, and we measure its periodic effect on earnings using maturity gap analysis.
A matched asset/liability position is generally achieved
through a combination of on and off-balance sheet financial
instruments, including issuing commercial paper, medium term
notes, long-term debt, interest rate and currency swaps, foreign
exchange contracts, and through asset syndication and securitization. We do not speculate on interest rates or foreign exchange
rates, but rather seek to mitigate the possible impact of such rate
fluctuations encountered in the normal course of business. This
process is ongoing due to prepayments, refinancings and actual
payments varying from contractual terms, as well as other portfolio dynamics.

Years Ended December 31,

We periodically enter into structured financings (involving
both the issuance of debt and an interest rate swap with corresponding notional principal amount and maturity) to manage
liquidity and reduce interest rate risk at a lower overall funding
cost than could be achieved by solely issuing debt.
Interest rate swaps with notional principal amounts of $9.9 billion at December 31, 2000 and $8.8 billion at December 31, 1999
were designated as hedges against outstanding debt and were
principally used to convert the interest rate on variable-rate debt
to a fixed-rate, establishing a fixed-rate term debt borrowing cost
for the life of the swap. These hedges reduce our exposure to
rising interest rates, but also reduce the benefits from lower
interest rates.
A comparative analysis of the weighted average principal outstanding and interest rates paid on our debt before and after the
effect of interest rate swaps is shown in the following table.
Before Swaps
1999

2000

1998

Dollars in Millions

Commercial paper and variable-rate senior notes
Fixed-rate senior and subordinated notes

$19,848.6
17,689.7

6.53%
6.72

$11,896.2
10,115.1

5.26%
6.47

$ 9,672.6
7,476.5

5.53%
6.31

Composite

$37,538.3

6.62%

$22,011.3

5.71%

$17,149.1

5.87%

Years Ended December 31,

After Swaps
1999

2000

1998

Dollars in Millions

Commercial paper and variable-rate senior notes
Fixed-rate senior and subordinated notes

$14,762.1
22,776.2

6.74%
6.67

$ 8,977.7
13,033.6

5.32%
6.25

$ 7,069.9
10,079.2

5.47%
6.39

Composite

$37,538.3

6.70%

$22,011.3

5.87%

$17,149.1

6.01%

The weighted average composite interest rate after swaps in
each of the years presented increased from the composite interest rate before swaps primarily because a larger proportion of our
debt, after giving effect to interest rate swaps, was subject to a
fixed interest rate. However, the weighted average interest rates
before swaps do not necessarily reflect the interest expense that
would have been incurred over the life of the borrowings had
we chosen to manage interest rate risk without the use of such
swaps. Derivatives are discussed further in NOTE 9 /DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS.
Our foreign operations include Canada, Latin America,
Europe, Asia and Australia and are funded through both local currency borrowings and U.S. dollar borrowings which are converted
to local currency through the use of foreign exchange forward
contracts or cross-currency swaps. At December 31, 2000, $2.9
billion in notional principal amount of foreign exchange forwards
and $1.2 billion in notional principal amount of cross-currency
swaps were designated as currency-related debt hedges.
We also utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge our
net investments in foreign operations. Translation gains and losses
of the underlying foreign net investment, as well as offsetting

derivative gains or losses on designated hedges, are reflected in
other comprehensive income as a separate component of equity in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2000,
$0.8 billion in notional principal of foreign exchange forwards were
designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations.
We regularly monitor and simulate through computer modeling our degree of interest rate sensitivity by measuring the
repricing characteristics of interest-sensitive assets, liabilities,
and off-balance sheet derivatives. The Capital Committee
reviews the results of this modeling monthly. The interest rate
sensitivity modeling techniques employed by us include the creation of prospective twelve month “baseline” and “rate shocked”
net interest income simulations. At the date that interest rate
sensitivity is modeled, “baseline” net interest income is derived
considering the current level of interest-sensitive assets and
related run-off (including both contractual repayment and historical prepayment experience), the current level of interest-sensitive liabilities and related maturities and the current level of
off-balance sheet derivatives. The “baseline” simulation assumes
that, over the next successive twelve months, market interest
rates (as of the date of simulation) are held constant and that no
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Derivative Risk Management — We enter into interest rate and
currency swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts as part
of our overall market risk management practices. We assess and
manage the external and internal risks associated with these
derivative instruments in accordance with the overall operating
goals established by our Capital Committee. External risk is
defined as those risks outside of our direct control, including
counterparty credit risk, liquidity risk, systemic risk and legal
risk. Internal risk relates to those operational risks within the
management oversight structure and includes actions taken in
contravention of CIT policy.
The primary external risk of derivative instruments is counterparty credit exposure, which is defined as the ability of a counterparty to perform its financial obligations under a derivative
contract. We control the credit risk of our derivative agreements
through counterparty credit approvals, pre-established exposure
limits and monitoring procedures.
The Capital Committee approves each counterparty and
establishes exposure limits based on credit analysis and market
value. All derivative agreements are with major money center
financial institutions rated investment grade by nationally recognized rating agencies, with the majority of our counterparties
rated “AA” or better. Credit exposures are measured based on
the market value of outstanding derivative instruments. Both
current exposures and potential exposures, based on two standard deviations in market rates, are calculated for each derivative
contract, summarized by counterparty, and reported to the
Capital Committee.

Liquidity Risk Management — Liquidity risk refers to the risk of
CIT being unable to meet potential cash outflows promptly and
cost effectively. Factors that could cause such a risk to arise might
be a disruption of a securities market or other source of funds.
We actively manage and mitigate liquidity risk by maintaining
diversified sources of funding. The primary funding sources are
commercial paper (U.S., Canada and Australia), medium-term
notes (U.S., Canada and Europe) and asset-backed securities
(U.S. and Canada). Included as part of our securitization programs are committed asset-backed commercial paper programs
in the U.S. and Canada. We also maintain committed bank lines
of credit to provide back-stop support of commercial paper borrowings and local bank lines to support our international operations. Additional sources of liquidity are loan and lease payments
from customers, whole loan asset sales and loan syndications.
We also target and monitor certain liquidity metrics to ensure
both a balanced liability profile and adequate alternate liquidity
availability. Among the target ratios are maximum percentage of
outstanding commercial paper to total debt and minimum
percentage of committed bank line coverage to outstanding
commercial paper.

LIQUIDITY
We maintain committed bank lines of credit aggregating $8.5 billion to provide back-stop support of commercial paper borrowings and approximately $198.0 million of local bank lines to
support our international operations. Our primary bank line
agreements include a minimum equity requirement of $3.8
billion. Included as part of our securitization programs are committed asset-backed commercial paper programs in the U.S. and
Canada aggregating approximately $4.8 billion. At December 31,
2000, $4.6 billion of registered, but unissued, debt securities
remained available under shelf registration statements, including $2.0 billion of European Medium-Term Notes.
To ensure uninterrupted access to capital at competitive interest rates, we maintain strong investment grade ratings as outlined
below.

Moody’s
Standard & Poor’s
Fitch
Dominion Bond Rating Service

Short Term

Long Term

P-1
A-1
F-1
R-1 (mid)

A1
A+
A+
A (high)

As part of our continuing program of accessing the public and
private asset-backed securitization markets as an additional
liquidity source, general equipment finance receivables of
$4.1 billion were securitized during 2000. We securitized recreational vehicle and general equipment finance receivables of
$1.5 billion in 1999. The increase in securitization activity in 2000
from 1999 was primarily due to the impact of a full year of activ-
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new loans or leases are extended. Once the “baseline” net
interest income is calculated, market interest rates, which were
previously held constant, are raised 100 basis points instantaneously and parallel across the entire yield curve, and a “rate
shocked” simulation is run. Interest rate sensitivity is then measured as the difference between calculated “baseline” and “rate
shocked” net interest income.
Utilizing our computer modeling, if no new fixed-rate loans or
leases were extended and no actions to alter the existing interest
rate sensitivity were taken subsequent to December 31, 2000, an
immediate hypothetical 100 basis point parallel change in the yield
curve on January 1, 2001 would affect net income by an estimated
$25 million after-tax over the next twelve months. Although management believes that this measure provides a meaningful estimate of our interest rate sensitivity, it does not account for
potential changes in the credit quality, size, composition and prepayment characteristics of the balance sheet and other business
developments that could affect net income. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that actual results would not differ materially
from the potential outcome simulated by our computer modeling.
Further, it does not necessarily represent management’s current
view of future market interest rate movements.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
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ity from Vendor Technology Finance and Equipment Financing
operations, which have established securitization vehicles and
relationships with institutional investors in the U.S. and Canada
to ensure broad market access.
At December 31, 2000, we had $2.5 billion of registered, but
unissued, securities available under shelf registration statements
relating to our asset-backed securitization programs.

CAPITALIZATION
Leverage reduction and disciplined capital allocation are high
priorities for us, and the ongoing evaluation of risk adjusted
returns and growth prospects of business units across the organization will continue. Businesses that do not fit strategically, or
portfolios that do not meet profitability requirements will be
improved, liquidated or sold. Currently, we have approximately
$5 billion in assets, which are under review or are being considered for sale or liquidation. Progress was made toward increasing tangible capitalization during the second half of 2000. As a
result, the tangible equity to managed assets and total debt to
tangible equity ratios improved to 7.82% and 8.78x from 7.47%
and 9.27x at June 30, 2000, respectively.
The following table presents information regarding our
capital structure.
At December 31,

2000

1999

$ 9,063.5
28,901.6

$ 8,974.0
26,399.5

250.0
6,007.2

250.0
5,554.4

44,222.3
1,964.6

41,177.9
1,850.5

$42,257.7

$39,327.4

7.82%

7.69%

8.78X

8.75X

6.02X

5.96X

Dollars in Millions

Commercial paper
Term debt
Company-obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities
of subsidiary trust holding solely
debentures of the Company
(“Preferred Capital Securities”)
Stockholders’ equity
Total capitalization
Goodwill
Total tangible capitalization
Tangible stockholders’ equity and
Preferred Capital Securities
to managed assets
Total debt (excluding overnight deposits)
to tangible stockholders’ equity and
Preferred Capital Securities
Total debt (excluding overnight deposits)
to stockholders’ equity and
Preferred Capital Securities

The Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred
securities are 7.70% Preferred Capital Securities issued in 1997
by CIT Capital Trust I, a wholly-owned subsidiary. CIT Capital
Trust I invested the proceeds of that issue in Junior Subordinated Debentures of CIT having identical rates and payment
dates.

At December 31, 2000, CIT had 261,897,768 issued and outstanding shares of common stock, including 11,637,709
exchangeable shares of CIT Exchangeco Inc. At December 31,
2000, The Dai-Ichi Kangyo Bank, Limited (“DKB”), our largest
shareholder, owned approximately 27% of our outstanding stock.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
During 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities —Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 133, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.”
SFAS 137 delayed the implementation of SFAS No. 133, which is
now effective for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2000. During June 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No. 138,
“Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain
Hedging Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.”
We adopted SFAS 133 and 138 as of January 1, 2001. The
adoption did not have a material effect on either the statement
of financial position or the results of operations.
During September 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities — a replacement of FASB Statement No. 125”. SFAS No. 140 is effective for transfers and
servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities
occurring after March 31, 2001, and is effective for recognition
and reclassification of collateral and for disclosures for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2000. We have adopted the disclosures for this statement and we do not expect the adoption of this
standard to affect the accounting for, or the structure of, our securitization transactions.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On March 13, 2001, Tyco International Ltd. (NYSE: TYC), a
diversified manufacturing and service company, and CIT
announced a definitive agreement whereby Tyco will acquire CIT.
As part of this transaction, Tyco has entered into a purchase agreement with DKB for their approximate 27% interest, or 71 million
shares, at a price of $35.02, in cash, per CIT share. The remaining
shareholders will receive 0.6907 Tyco shares for each share of CIT
in a tax-free, stock-for-stock exchange. The transaction, which is
expected to close during the third quarter of 2001, is valued at
$35.02 per share to CIT shareholders, or approximately $9.2
billion, based on Tyco’s March 12, 2001 closing stock price.
In connection with the transaction, CIT’s credit ratings have
been reviewed by the rating agencies as follows: Standard &
Poor’s has re-affirmed the short and long-term ratings, Fitch has
taken no action, Moody’s has re-affirmed the short-term
rating and has placed the long-term rating under review, and
Dominion Bond Rating Service has placed both the short and
long-term ratings under review.
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At or for the Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999(2)

1998

1997
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1996

Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Net finance income
Net finance margin
Operating revenue
Salaries and general operating expenses
Provision for credit losses
Goodwill amortization
Net income
Net income per diluted share

$ 2,750.7
1,469.4
2,381.4
1,035.2
255.2
86.3
611.6
2.33

$ 1,272.5
917.4
1,268.2
516.0
110.3
25.7
389.4
2.22

$

974.3
804.8
1,060.2
407.7
99.4
10.1
338.8
2.08

$

887.5
$
740.7
1,046.5(1)
420.0
113.7
8.4
310.1
1.95

797.9
676.2
920.3
385.3
111.4
7.8
260.1
1.64

$29,304.0
4,193.5

$27,119.2
3,887.9

$15,589.1
4,266.9

$14,054.9
3,664.8

$13,757.6
3,239.0

33,497.5
468.5
7,190.6
1,964.6
48,689.8
9,063.5
11,130.5
17,571.1
200.0

31,007.1
446.9
6,125.9
1,850.5
45,081.1
8,974.0
7,147.2
19,052.3
200.0

19,856.0
263.7
2,774.1
216.5
24,303.1
6,144.1
4,275.0
8,032.3
200.0

17,719.7
235.6
1,905.6
134.6
20,464.1
5,559.6
2,861.5
6,593.8
300.0

16,996.6
220.8
1,402.1
129.5
18,932.5
5,827.0
3,717.5
4,761.2
300.0

250.0
6,007.2

250.0
5,554.4

250.0
2,701.6

250.0
2,432.9

—
2,075.4

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Finance receivables:
Commercial
Consumer
Total finance receivables
Reserve for credit losses
Operating lease equipment, net
Goodwill
Total assets
Commercial paper
Variable-rate senior notes
Fixed-rate senior notes
Subordinated fixed-rate notes
Company-obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities of
subsidiary trust holding solely
debentures of the Company
Stockholders’ equity

(1) Includes a 1997 gain of $58.0 million on the sale of an equity interest acquired in connection with a loan workout.
(2) Includes results of operations of Newcourt Credit Group Inc. from the November 15, 1999 acquisition date.

NET FINANCE MARGIN

NET INCOME
PER DILUTED SHARE

OTHER REVENUE

in millions of dollars

in dollars

in millions of dollars
3.0

1000

1500

2.5

1200

750
2.0

900
1.5

500
600

1.0
250

300

0

0.5

96

97

98

99

00

0

96

97

98

99

00

0.0

96

97

98

99

00
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continued

At or for the Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

1997

1996

6.76%
3.61%
16.0%
10.7%
1.50%
1.39X

4.97%
3.59%
14.2%
12.0%
1.52%
1.45X

4.75%
3.93%
14.0%
13.2%
1.65%
1.49X

4.87%
4.06%
14.6%
14.0%(5)
1.70%(5)
1.51X

4.82%
4.09%
14.0%
13.0%
1.57%
1.49X

2.01%

1.75%

1.78%

2.11%(5)

2.18%

43.8%

41.3%

39.2%

40.8%(5)

41.9%

2.98%

2.71%

1.75%

1.67%

1.72%

0.71%

0.42%

0.42%

0.59%

0.62%

1.40%

1.44%

1.33%

1.33%

1.30%

8.78X

8.75X

6.82X

5.99X

7.49X

7.8%

7.7%

10.4%

11.4%

9.7%

$54,900.9
7,355

$51,433.3
8,255

$26,216.3
3,230

$22,344.9
3,025

$20,005.4
2,950

SELECTED DATA AND RATIOS
PROFITABILITY
Net finance income as a percentage of
average earning assets (“AEA”)(1)
Net finance margin as a percentage of AEA
Return on average tangible stockholders’ equity(2)
Return on average stockholders’ equity
Return on AEA
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
Salaries and general operating expenses
(excluding goodwill amortization) as a
percentage of average managed
assets (“AMA”)(3)
Efficiency ratio (excluding goodwill
amortization)(4)
CREDIT QUALITY
60+ days contractual delinquency as a
percentage of finance receivables
Net credit losses as a percentage of
average finance receivables
Reserve for credit losses as a percentage of
finance receivables
LEVERAGE
Total debt (net of overnight deposits) to
tangible stockholders’ equity(2)(6)
Tangible stockholders’ equity(2) to
managed assets
OTHER
Total managed assets(7) (dollars in millions)
Employees

(1) “AEA” means the average of finance receivables, operating lease equipment, finance receivables held for sale and certain investments, less credit balances of
factoring clients.
(2) Tangible stockholders’ equity excludes goodwill.
(3) “AMA” means average earning assets plus the average of finance receivables previously securitized and still managed by us.
(4) Efficiency ratio reflects the ratio of salaries and general operating expenses to the sum of operating revenue less minority interest in subsidiary trust holding
solely debentures of the Company.
(5) Excluding the gain of $58.0 million on the sale of an equity interest acquired in a loan workout and certain nonrecurring expenses, for the year ended
December 31, 1997, (i) the return on average stockholders’ equity would have been 13.1%, (ii) the return on AEA would have been 1.58%, (iii) the
efficiency ratio would have been 41.1% and (iv) salaries and general operating expenses as a percentage of AMA would have been 2.01%.
(6) Total debt excludes and stockholders’ equity includes Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trust holding solely
debentures of the Company.
(7) “Managed assets” include (i) financing and leasing assets, (ii) certain investments and (iii) off-balance sheet finance receivables previously securitized and
still managed by us.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

The CIT Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

December 31,

2000

1999

$29,304.0
4,193.5

$27,119.2
3,887.9

31

Dollars in Millions

Finance receivables
Reserve for credit losses

33,497.5
(468.5)

31,007.1
(446.9)

33,029.0
7,190.6
2,698.4
812.1
1,964.6
2,995.1

30,560.2
6,125.9
3,123.7
1,073.4
1,850.5
2,347.4

TOTAL ASSETS

$48,689.8

$45,081.1

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Debt:
Commercial paper
Variable-rate senior notes
Fixed-rate senior notes
Subordinated fixed-rate notes

$ 9,063.5
11,130.5
17,571.1
200.0

$ 8,974.0
7,147.2
19,052.3
200.0

Total debt
Credit balances of factoring clients
Accrued liabilities and payables
Deferred federal income taxes

37,965.1
2,179.9
1,640.8
646.8

35,373.5
2,200.6
1,191.8
510.8

TOTAL LIABILITIES

42,432.6

39,276.7

250.0

250.0

Net finance receivables
Operating lease equipment, net
Finance receivables held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents
Goodwill
Other assets

Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
of subsidiary trust holding solely debentures of the Company
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Treasury stock, at cost
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2.7
3,527.2
2,603.3
11.7
(137.7)

2.7
3,521.8
2,097.6
2.8
(70.5)

6,007.2

5,554.4

$48,689.8

$45,081.1
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ASSETS
Financing and leasing assets:
Loans and leases:
Commercial
Consumer

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
The CIT Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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Years ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

$5,248.4
2,497.7

$2,565.9
1,293.4

$2,015.1
1,040.8

Net finance income
Depreciation on operating lease equipment

2,750.7
1,281.3

1,272.5
355.1

974.3
169.5

Net finance margin
Other revenue

1,469.4
912.0

917.4
350.8

804.8
255.4

Operating revenue

2,381.4

1,268.2

1,060.2

Salaries and general operating expenses
Provision for credit losses
Goodwill amortization
Minority interest in subsidiary trust holding solely
debentures of the Company

1,035.2
255.2
86.3

516.0
110.3
25.7

407.7
99.4
10.1

19.2

19.2

19.2

Operating expenses

1,395.9

671.2

536.4

985.5
373.9

597.0
207.6

523.8
185.0
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Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts

Finance income
Interest expense

Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

$

611.6

$ 389.4

$ 338.8

Net income per basic share

$

2.34

$

2.24

$

2.09

Net income per diluted share

$

2.33

$

2.22

$

2.08

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The CIT Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Paid-in
Capital

$ 1.3

$ 948.3

Treasury
Stock

Retained
Earnings

—

$1,482.9
338.8
(48.9)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

33
Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Dollars in Millions

Balance, December 31, 1997
$0.4
Net income
Cash dividends
Conversion of Class B Common Stock to
common stock
1.3
Repurchase of common stock
Costs relating to common stock offering
Restricted common stock grants
Balance, December 31, 1998
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain on equity and
securitization investments, net

1.7

$

$

—

(1.3)

—
(25.4)
(1.0)
5.2

(25.4)
(1.0)
5.2
—

952.5

(25.4)

1,772.8
389.4

—
0.3
2.5

Total comprehensive income
Cash dividends
Repurchase of common stock
Issuance of common stock and
exchangeable shares
in connection with the
Newcourt acquisition
Restricted common stock grants
Balance, December 31, 1999
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain on equity and
securitization investments, net

2,701.6
389.4
0.3
2.5
392.2

(64.6)

(64.6)
(45.1)

(45.1)

1.0
2.7

2,562.7
6.6
—

3,521.8

2,563.7
6.6
(70.5)

2,097.6
611.6

2.8
4.3
4.6

Total comprehensive income

5,554.4
611.6
4.3
4.6
620.5

Cash dividends
Repurchase of common stock
Restricted common stock grants
Balance, December 31, 2000

$2,432.9
338.8
(48.9)

(105.9)

(105.9)
(67.2)
5.4

(67.2)
5.4
$2.7

$ —

$3,527.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$(137.7) $2,603.3

$11.7

$6,007.2
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Common
Stock

Class B
Common
Stock

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
The CIT Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998
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Dollars in Millions

Cash flows from operations
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operations:
Provision for credit losses
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for deferred federal income taxes
Gains on equipment, receivable and investment sales
Increase in accrued liabilities and payables
Increase in other assets
Other

$

611.6
255.2
1,408.7
211.5
(371.8)
449.0
(690.9)
31.9

Net cash flows provided by operations

Net cash flows used for investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of variable and fixed-rate notes
Repayments of variable and fixed-rate notes
Net increase in commercial paper
Net repayments of non-recourse leveraged lease debt
Cash dividends paid
Purchase of treasury stock
Net cash flows provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

$

338.8
99.4
195.9
100.2
(75.1)
34.2
(89.2)
11.0

1,086.2

615.2

(49,275.8)
41,847.5
7,055.4
(2,457.6)
(1,465.6)
(175.4)
—
(79.4)

(39,657.9)
34,315.7
3,733.2
(1,633.2)
(492.1)
(242.9)
(538.0)
(36.0)

(35,818.9)
32,463.4
1,381.3
(1,101.7)
(600.0)
(255.4)
—
(19.5)

(4,550.9)

(4,551.2)

(3,950.8)

12,645.3
(10,143.2)
89.5
(31.2)
(105.9)
(67.2)

7,700.0
(5,538.3)
2,571.2
(156.8)
(64.6)
(45.1)

6,863.5
(4,111.5)
584.5
6.6
(48.9)
(25.4)

4,466.4

3,268.8

2,387.3

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

389.4
110.3
402.8
163.5
(109.3)
221.2
(125.6)
33.9

1,905.2

Cash flows from investing activities
Loans extended
Collections on loans
Proceeds from asset and receivable sales
Purchases of assets to be leased
Purchases of finance receivable portfolios
Net increase in short-term factoring receivables
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Other

$

(2.9)

(1.6)

—

(261.3)
1,073.4

999.8
73.6

(66.8)
140.4

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

812.1

$ 1,073.4

$

Supplemental cash disclosures
Interest paid
Federal, foreign and state and local income taxes paid
Supplemental non-cash disclosure

$
$

2,449.7
28.4

$ 1,268.9
$
66.4

$ 1,021.3
$
81.4

Stock issued for acquisition

$

—

$ 2,563.7

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

73.6

—

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 / THE COMPANY

NOTE 2 / SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
include the accounts of CIT and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Prior period
amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. The 1999 acquisitions were accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. The acquisitions affect the comparability of the consolidated financial statements as the consolidated statements of income reflect results of the acquired
operations for the full year 2000, as compared to a partial year for
each acquisition for 1999.

Financing and Leasing Assets
CIT provides funding for a variety of financing arrangements,
including term loans, lease financing and operating leases. The
amounts outstanding on loans and leases are referred to as
finance receivables and, when combined with finance receivables held for sale, net book value of operating lease equipment,
and certain investments, represent financing and leasing assets.
At the time of designation for sale, securitization or syndication by management, assets are classified as finance receivables
held for sale. These assets are carried at the lower of aggregate
cost or market value.

Finance income includes interest on loans, the accretion of
income on direct financing leases, and rents on operating leases.
Related origination and other nonrefundable fees and direct
origination costs are deferred and amortized as an adjustment of
finance income over the contractual life of the transactions.
Income on finance receivables other than leveraged leases is recognized on an accrual basis commencing in the month of origination using methods that generally approximate the interest
method. Leveraged lease income is recognized on a basis calculated to achieve a constant after-tax rate of return for periods in
which CIT has a positive investment in the transaction, net of
related deferred tax liabilities. Rental income on operating leases
is recognized on an accrual basis.
The accrual of finance income on commercial finance receivables is generally suspended and an account is placed on nonaccrual status when payment of principal or interest is
contractually delinquent for 90 days or more, or earlier when, in
the opinion of management, full collection of all principal and
interest due is doubtful. Given the nature of revolving credit
facilities, including those combined with term loan facilities
(advances and interest accruals increase revolving loan balances
and payments reduce revolving loan balances), the placement of
revolving credit facilities on non-accrual status includes the
review of other qualitative and quantitative credit related factors,
and generally does not result in the reversal of significant
amounts of accrued interest. To the extent the estimated fair
value of collateral does not satisfy both the principal and accrued
income outstanding, accrued but uncollected income at the date
an account is placed on non-accrual status is reversed and
charged against income. Subsequent income received is applied
to the outstanding principal balance until such time as the
account is collected, charged-off or returned to accrual status.
The accrual of finance income on consumer loans is suspended,
and all previously accrued but uncollected income is reversed,
when payment of principal and/or interest on consumer finance
receivables is contractually delinquent for 90 days or more.
Other revenue includes: (1) factoring commissions, (2) commitment, facility, letters of credit and syndication fees, (3)
servicing fees and (4) gains and losses from the sales of leasing
equipment, venture capital investments, and the sales and securitizations of finance receivables.

Lease Financing
Direct financing leases are recorded at the aggregate future minimum lease payments plus estimated residual values less
unearned finance income. Operating lease equipment is carried
at cost less accumulated depreciation and is depreciated to estimated residual value using the straight-line method over the lease
term or projected economic life of the asset. Equipment acquired
in satisfaction of loans and subsequently placed on operating lease
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The CIT Group, Inc. (“CIT”) is a diversified finance company
engaging in vendor, equipment, commercial, consumer and
structured financing and leasing activities. CIT operates extensively in the United States and Canada, with strategic locations in
Europe, Latin America and the Pacific Rim.
On November 15, 1999, CIT issued 76,428,304 shares of CIT
common stock and 27,577,082 exchangeable shares of CIT
Exchangeco Inc. (exchangeable on a one-for-one basis for shares
of CIT common stock) under the terms of the acquisition of Newcourt Credit Group Inc. (“Newcourt”). In addition, prior to the
acquisition, CIT’s Certificate of Incorporation was amended to
rename and combine the Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock as Common Stock, which is now the only class of
common stock outstanding. At December 31, 2000, The Dai-Ichi
Kangyo Bank, Limited (“DKB”) owned approximately 27% of the
outstanding stock (including the exchangeable shares).
In November 1998, CIT’s majority stockholder, DKB, sold
55,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock in a secondary public offering (the “Secondary Offering”) for which DKB received
all the proceeds. Prior to the sale, DKB converted all of its Class
B Common Stock into an identical number of shares of Class A
Common Stock.

Income Recognition

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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is recorded at the lower of carrying value or estimated fair value
when acquired. Lease receivables include leveraged leases, for
which a major portion of the funding is provided by third party
lenders on a nonrecourse basis, with CIT providing the balance
and acquiring title to the property. Leveraged leases are recorded
at the aggregate value of future minimum lease payments plus
estimated residual value, less nonrecourse third party debt and
unearned finance income. Management performs periodic
reviews of the estimated residual values with impairment, other
than temporary, recognized in the current period.

Reserve for Credit Losses on
Finance Receivables
The consolidated reserve for credit losses is periodically reviewed
for adequacy considering economic conditions, collateral values
and credit quality indicators, including charge-off experience and
levels of past due loans and non-performing assets. Changes in
economic conditions or other events affecting specific obligors or
industries may necessitate additions or deductions to the consolidated reserve for credit losses. It is management’s judgment that
the consolidated reserve for credit losses is adequate to provide
for credit losses inherent in the portfolio.

Charge-off of Finance Receivables
Finance receivables are reviewed periodically to determine the
probability of loss. Charge-offs are taken after considering such
factors as the borrower’s financial condition and the value of
underlying collateral and guarantees (including recourse to dealers and manufacturers). Such charge-offs are deducted from the
carrying value of the related finance receivables. To the extent
that an unrecovered balance remains due, a final charge-off is
taken at the time collection efforts are no longer deemed useful.
Charge-offs are recorded on consumer and certain small ticket
commercial finance receivables beginning at 180 days of
contractual delinquency based upon historical loss severity.

Impaired Loans
Impaired loans are measured based upon 1) the present value
of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective
interest rate; or 2) the fair value of the collateral, if the loan is
collateral dependent. Impaired loans include any loan transaction
on non-accrual status or any troubled debt restructuring, subject
to periodic individual review by CIT’s Asset Quality Review Committee (“AQR”). The AQR is comprised of members of senior
management, which reviews overall owned and managed portfolio performance across the organization, as well as individual
accounts of $500,000 or more meeting certain credit risk grading
parameters. Excluded from impaired loans are: 1) certain individual small dollar commercial non-accrual loans (under
$500,000) for which the collateral value supports the outstanding
balance, 2) consumer loans, which are subject to automatic

charge-off procedures, and 3) short-term factoring customer
receivables, generally having terms of no more than 30 days. In
general, the impaired loans are collateral dependent. Any shortfall between the estimated fair value and the recorded investment
in the loan is recognized by recording a provision for credit losses.

Long-Lived Assets
A review for impairment of long-lived assets, such as operating
lease equipment, is performed whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived
assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the
estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired, less the estimated fair value of liabilities assumed from business combinations and is amortized over periods not exceeding 25 years from
date of acquisition, on a straight line basis. Goodwill is reviewed
for impairment whenever events indicate the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. If the estimated future cash flows of CIT
are projected to be less than the carrying amount of goodwill, an
impairment write-down equal to the difference between the discounted cash flows and the recorded goodwill would be recorded
as a charge to operations.

Securitizations
CIT’s retained interests in securitized assets are included in other
assets. Pools of assets are originated and sold to independent
trusts which in turn, issue securities to investors backed by the
asset pools. CIT retains the servicing rights and participates in
certain cash flows from the pools. The present value of expected
net cash flows that exceeds the estimated cost of servicing is
recorded at the time of sale as “retained interest”. CIT, in its estimation of residual cash flows and retained interests, inherently
employs a variety of financial assumptions, including loan pool
credit losses, prepayment speeds and discount rates. These
assumptions are empirically supported by both CIT’s historical
experience, market trends and anticipated trends relative to the
particular products securitized. Subsequent to the recording of
retained interests, CIT reviews such assets for impairment on a
quarterly basis. These reviews are performed on a disaggregated
basis. Fair values of retained interests are calculated utilizing
current and anticipated credit losses, prepayment speeds and
discount rates and are then compared to CIT’s carrying values.
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Other Assets
Assets received in satisfaction of loans are carried at the lower of
carrying value or estimated fair value less selling costs, with
write-downs at the time of receipt recognized by recording a
charge-off. Subsequent write-downs of such assets, which may
be required due to a decline in estimated fair market value after
receipt, are reflected in general operating expenses.
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on marketable equity
securities included in CIT’s venture capital investment companies are included directly in operations. Unrealized gains and
losses, representing the difference between carrying value and
estimated current fair market value, for all other debt and marketable equity securities are recorded as other comprehensive
income in a separate component of equity.
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method, whereby the investment balance is carried at cost and
adjusted for the proportionate share of undistributed earnings
or losses.
Fixed assets such as computer equipment, furniture, and
leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization
are computed principally using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets.

Derivative Financial Instruments
CIT primarily uses interest rate and currency swaps for worldwide market risk management. These transactions are entered
into as hedges against the effects of future interest rate and currency fluctuations and, accordingly, are not carried at fair value.
CIT does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
The net interest differential, including premiums paid or
received, if any, on interest rate swaps, is recognized on an
accrual basis as an adjustment to finance income or as interest
expense to correspond with the hedged position. In the event
that early termination of a derivative instrument occurs, the net
proceeds paid or received are deferred and amortized over the
shorter of the remaining original contract life of the interest rate
swap or the maturity of the hedged position.
CIT uses derivative instruments to hedge the interest rate associated with the anticipated securitization, syndication, or whole
loan sale of financing and leasing assets. Such derivative transactions are designated as hedges against a sale that is probable and
for which the significant characteristics and terms have been identified, but for which there is no legally binding obligation. The net

interest differential on the derivative instrument, including premium paid or received, if any, is recognized as an adjustment to
the basis of the corresponding assets at the time of sale. In the
event the anticipated sale does not occur, the related hedge position may be liquidated with any gain or loss recognized in operations at such time, and the related assets would be reclassified to
finance receivables.
CIT also uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the
net investments in foreign operations. These instruments are
designated as hedges and resulting gains and losses are reflected
in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate
component of equity.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock option plans are accounted for in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). In accordance with APB 25,
no compensation expense is recognized for stock options issued.
Proforma disclosures, as if CIT applied the “Fair Value Based
Method” for stock options granted to employees, have been provided in NOTE 16/POSTRETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS. Compensation expense associated with restricted
stock awards is recognized over the associated vesting periods.

Foreign Currency Translation
CIT has operations in Canada, Europe and other countries outside the United States. The functional currency for these foreign
operations is the local currency. The assets and liabilities of these
operations are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the
balance sheet date. Revenue and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rate prevailing during the year. The resulting translation adjustments, as well as offsetting gains and losses
on hedges of net investments in foreign operations, are reflected
in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of equity.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined using enacted tax rates expected to
apply in the year in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income at the time of enactment of such change in tax rates.
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Unrealized gains and losses, representing the difference
between carrying value and current fair market value, are
recorded as other comprehensive income in a separate component of equity. Declines in value considered to be other than temporary are recognized directly in operations.
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Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and interest-bearing
deposits, which generally represent overnight money market
investments of excess cash borrowed in the commercial paper
market and maintained for liquidity purposes. Cash inflows and
outflows from commercial paper borrowings and most factoring
receivables are presented on a net basis in the Statements of Cash
Flows, as their original term is generally less than 90 days.

Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income includes unrealized gains and losses
on equity investments, securitization retained interests and foreign currency translation adjustments pertaining to both the net
investment in foreign operations and the related derivatives designated as hedges of such investments.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

NOTE 3 / ACQUISITIONS
On November 15, 1999, CIT acquired Newcourt, a publicly
traded, non-bank financial services enterprise that originated,
invested in and securitized, syndicated and sold asset-based loans
and leases. Newcourt’s origination activities focused on the commercial and corporate finance segments of the asset-based
financing market. Newcourt, which was headquartered in
Toronto, Canada, operated extensively in the United States and
Canada, with strategic locations in Europe, Latin America, and
the Pacific Rim.
In connection with the acquisition, 76,428,304 shares of CIT
common stock and 27,577,082 exchangeable shares of CIT
Exchangeco Inc. (exchangeable on a one-for-one basis for shares
of CIT common stock) were issued for all Newcourt common
stock outstanding. The value of CIT common stock issued in connection with the acquisition (including exchangeable shares) was
$2,563.7 million, based upon 148,536,081 outstanding shares of
Newcourt at a price of $17.26. The price per share was determined by multiplying the average closing price of CIT common
stock for the two-day period both before and after the acquisition
announcement on August 5, 1999 by the exchange ratio of .70.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase
method. The difference between the purchase price and the estimated fair value of net assets acquired has been allocated to
goodwill in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The goodwill created by the Newcourt acquisition was $1,583.2 million, which
includes an increase of $200.1 million during 2000 following a
refinement to the original purchase price allocations as summarized, on an after tax basis, in the table below.
Dollars in Millions

Retained interests in securitization transactions
Pre-acquisition contingencies
Business restructuring, including adjustments
to reflect dispositions
Other

$117.6
32.2

Total increase

$200.1

26.4
23.9

This goodwill is being amortized on a straight-line basis over
twenty-five years from the date of acquisition.
In connection with the acquisition, CIT established an integration plan, which identified activities that would not continue
and the associated costs of exiting those activities. The plan identified areas for adjusting the amount of real estate required,
including the closing of the Newcourt corporate location in New
Jersey, the reduction of corporate office space in Toronto,
Canada, and the elimination of various other operating locations
throughout the United States and Canada. The plan also identified employees for involuntary termination.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes activity in the restructuring liability. The remaining accrual balances represent expenditures
expected during 2001.
Leasehold
Termination
Costs

Transaction
and Other
Costs

Total

$102.1
(48.1)
—
—

$ 24.5
—
—
—

$ 72.6
(38.0)
(14.3)
(2.5)

$199.2
(86.1)
(14.3)
(2.5)

17.8
(8.1)
—
(6.2)

96.3
(79.0)
6.7
(8.6)

Dollars in Millions

Balance at November 15, 1999
Cash payments
Transaction fees paid in CIT stock
Non-cash reductions
Balance at December 31, 1999
Cash payments
Additions
Non-cash reductions

54.0
(60.7)
6.7
—

Balance at December 31, 2000

$

On April 1, 1999, CIT purchased certain factoring assets of
Congress Financial Corporation (“Congress”) from First Union
Corporation, and on December 1, 1999, CIT purchased the
domestic factoring business of Heller Financial Inc. (“Heller”).
In total, these two acquisitions added in excess of $1.5 billion in
financing and leasing assets. The combined goodwill created at
the acquisition dates for these purchases was $270.6 million. This
goodwill is being amortized on a straight-line basis over twenty
years from the dates of acquisition.
The actual 2000 results and the unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statement of income for the year ended December
31, 1999, which has been prepared assuming that the 1999 acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of that year, follow.
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999
Pro Forma

$2,381.4
$ 611.6
$
2.34
$
2.33

$2,201.1
$ 448.1
$
1.69
$
1.68

Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts

Operating revenue
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative
purposes only. The pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 1999 are based on the historical operating results of the
acquired companies prior to the acquisitions. The 1999 pro
forma results include certain adjustments, primarily to recognize
accretion and amortization based on the allocated purchase price
of assets and liabilities. Further, the 1999 pro forma results do not
include cost savings, reduced securitization activity and other initiatives introduced by CIT. Accordingly, management does not
believe that the 1999 pro forma results are indicative of the actual
results that would have occurred had the acquisition closed at the
beginning of 1999, nor are they indicative of future results.

—

24.5
(10.2)
—
(2.4)
$ 11.9

$ 3.5

$ 15.4

NOTE 4 / FINANCE RECEIVABLES
The following table presents the breakdown of finance receivables by loans and lease receivables.
December 31,

2000

1999

Loans:
Commercial
Consumer
Lease receivables

$18,727.0
4,193.4
10,577.1

$16,997.9
3,887.9
10,121.3

Finance receivables

$33,497.5

$31,007.1

Dollars in Millions

Included in lease receivables at December 31, 2000 and 1999
are leveraged lease receivables of $1.1 billion and $931.9 million,
respectively. Leveraged lease receivables exclude the portion
funded by nonrecourse debt payable to third party lenders of
$2.1 billion at both December 31, 2000 and 1999.
Commercial and consumer loans are presented net of
unearned income of $1.5 billion at both December 31, 2000 and
1999. Lease receivables are presented net of unearned income
of $2.6 billion and $2.2 billion at December 31, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, finance receivables exclude
$11.1 billion and $11.0 billion, respectively, of finance receivables previously securitized and still managed by CIT.
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Severance and
Other
Termination
Costs
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The following table sets forth the contractual maturities of finance receivables.
40
Amount

2000
Percent

Amount

Percent

Due within one year
Due within one to two years
Due within two to four years
Due after four years

$14,185.7
5,450.6
5,774.6
8,086.6

42.3%
16.3
17.2
24.2

$11,761.2
5,375.1
5,789.3
8,081.5

37.9%
17.3
18.7
26.1

Total

$33,497.5

100.0%

$31,007.1

100.0%
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At December 31,

1999

Dollars in Millions

Information about concentrations of credit risk is set forth in
“Concentrations” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following table sets forth the information regarding total
non-performing assets.
At December 31,

2000

1999

Non-accrual finance receivables
Assets received in satisfaction of loans

$704.2
123.9

$510.3
125.1

Total non-performing assets

$828.1

$635.4

Dollars in Millions

Percent to finance receivables

2.47%

2.05%

At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the recorded investment in
impaired loans, which are generally collateral dependent, totaled
$326.6 million and $241.5 million, respectively, with a corresponding specific reserve for credit losses allocation of $59.9 million and $24.9 million, respectively. The average monthly
recorded investment in the impaired loans was $256.6 million,
$116.9 million and $73.2 million for the years ended December
31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. There was no finance
income recorded on these loans during 2000, 1999 or 1998 after
being classified as impaired. The amount of finance income that
would have been recorded under contractual terms for year end
impaired loans would have been $38.1 million, $26.9 million, and
$16.1 million in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

NOTE 5 / RESERVE FOR CREDIT LOSSES
The following table presents changes in the reserve for credit
losses.
At December 31,

2000

1999

1998

$ 446.9

$ 263.7

$ 235.6

255.2

110.3

99.4

2.0

167.9

7.5

257.2

278.2

106.9

(255.8)

(111.1)

(103.7)

16.1

24.9

Dollars in Millions

Balance, January 1
Provision for credit losses
Reserves relating to
acquisitions/dispositions
Additions to the reserve for
credit losses
Finance receivables
charged-off
Recoveries on finance
receivables previously
charged-off
Net credit losses
Balance, December 31
Reserve for credit losses as a
percentage of finance
receivables

20.2

(95.0)

(78.8)

$ 468.5

(235.6)

$ 446.9

$ 263.7

1.40%

1.44%

1.33%

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6 / OPERATING LEASE EQUIPMENT

lease equipment at lease expiration, all of which are important
components of operating lease profitability.

At December 31,

2000

1999

Dollars in Millions

Commercial aircraft
Railroad equipment
Information technology
Telecommunications
Transportation
Business aircraft
Manufacturing
Other

$1,885.5 $1,528.4
1,697.1
1,398.1
1,155.4
925.1
560.4
468.7
385.2
428.4
364.0
334.3
305.6
258.6
837.4
784.3

Total

$7,190.6 $6,125.9

Included in the preceding table is equipment not currently
subject to lease agreements of $351.0 million and $235.9 million
at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Rental income on operating leases, which is included in
finance income, totaled $1.7 billion in 2000, $617.8 million in
1999, and $314.1 million in 1998. The following table presents
future minimum lease rentals on non-cancelable operating
leases as of December 31, 2000. Excluded from this table are
variable rentals calculated on the level of asset usage, re-leasing
rentals, and expected sales proceeds from remarketing operating
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Years Ended December 31,
Dollars in Millions

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
Thereafter

$1,522.6
992.1
535.4
280.3
169.3
298.4

Total

$3,798.1

NOTE 7 / INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND
EQUITY SECURITIES
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, CIT’s investments in debt and
equity securities designated as available for sale totaled $849.7
million and $892.0 million, respectively.
Included in CIT’s investments in debt and equity securities are
retained interests in commercial securitized assets of $684.5
million and consumer securitized assets of $155.9 million at
December 31, 2000 and commercial securitized assets of $676.8
million and consumer securitized assets of $194.8 million at
December 31, 1999. Retained interests include interest-only
strips, retained subordinated securities, and cash reserve
accounts related to securitizations. The carrying value of the
retained interests in securitized assets is reviewed quarterly for
valuation impairment.
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The following table provides an analysis of operating lease equipment by equipment type, net of accumulated depreciation of
$1,080.9 million at December 31, 2000 and $719.4 million at
December 31, 1999.
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The securitization programs cover a wide range of products
and collateral types with significantly different prepayment and
credit risk characteristics. The prepayment speed, in the tables
below, is based on CPR which expresses payments as a function
of the declining amount of loans at a compound annual rate.
Expected credit losses are based upon annual loss rates.

The key economic assumptions used in measuring the
retained interests at the date of securitization for transactions
completed during 2000 by product type were as follows.

Commercial
Equipment
Prepayment speed
Expected credit losses
Weighted average discount rate
Weighted average life (in years)

4.50% – 9.81%
0.52% – 1.28%
8.50% – 9.86%
0.69 – 2.69

Consumer
Manufactured
Housing &
Recreational
Home Equity
Vehicle & Boat
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

Ranges of key economic assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the retained interests in securitized assets by product type
at December 31, 2000 were as follows.

Commercial
Equipment
Prepayment speed
Expected credit losses
Weighted average discount rate
Weighted average life (in years)

4.50% – 9.08%
0.55% – 4.03%
8.74% – 10.35%
0.52 – 1.97

Consumer
Manufactured
Housing &
Recreational
Home Equity
Vehicle & Boat
16.84% – 30.00%
0.15% – 0.90%
8.00% – 12.00%
2.37 – 3.95

20.56% – 30.00%
0.00% – 0.94%
8.00% – 8.50%
0.79 – 2.88

The impact of 10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes to the key economic assumptions on the fair value of retained interests as
of December 31, 2000 is shown in the following tables.
Consumer
Commercial
Equipment

Manufactured
Housing &
Home Equity

Recreational
Vehicle & Boat

$ (0.8)
(1.4)

$(1.8)
(3.6)

$(5.0)
(9.2)

(20.6)
(41.3)

(0.4)
(0.8)

(3.4)
(6.7)

(8.7)
(17.2)

(0.9)
(1.7)

(2.0)
(4.0)

Dollars in Millions

Prepayment speed:
10 percent adverse change
20 percent adverse change
Expected credit losses:
10 percent adverse change
20 percent adverse change
Weighted average discount rate:
10 percent adverse change
20 percent adverse change

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with
caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10 percent variation in
assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumptions to the change in fair value
may not be linear. Also, in this table, the effect of a variation in a

particular assumption on the fair value of the retained interests
is calculated without changing any other assumption. In reality,
changes in one factor may result in changes in another (for example, increases in market interest rates may result in lower prepayments and increased credit losses), which might magnify or
counteract the sensitivities.
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The table that follows summarizes certain cash flows
received from and paid to securitization trusts for the year ended
December 31, 2000.
Year Ended December 31,

2000

Dollars in Millions

Commercial Equipment
Securitizations During

2000

Actual and projected losses at:
December 31, 2000
December 31, 1999

1.83%
—

Recreational Vehicle and Boat
Securitizations During

2000

Actual and projected losses at:
December 31, 2000
December 31, 1999

—
—

1999
3.92%
4.59%

1999
2.32%
2.25%

Proceeds from new securitizations
Other cash flows received on retained interests
Servicing fees received
Purchases of delinquent or foreclosed assets
Purchases of ineligible contracts
Reimbursable servicing advances, net
Purchases of contracts through clean up calls

$4,310.9
327.7
65.2
(11.0)
(44.2)
(44.7)
(259.0)

Total, net

$4,344.9

Charge-offs for the year ended December 31, 2000 and
receivables past due 60 days or more at December 31, 2000 are
set forth below, for both finance receivables and managed receivables. In addition to finance receivables, managed receivables
include finance receivables previously securitized and still managed by us, but exclude operating leases and equity investments.
Finance Receivables

Managed Receivables

Amount

Percent

Amount

Percent

Commercial
Consumer

$181.2
54.4

0.62%
1.32

$346.2
85.7

0.88%
1.15

Total

$235.6

0.71%

$431.9

0.93%

Charge-offs for the Year Ended December 31, 2000
Dollars in Millions

Finance Receivables

Managed Receivables

Amount

Percent

Amount

Percent

Commercial
Consumer

$788.8
211.1

2.69%
5.03

$1,279.6
279.4

3.18%
3.86

Total

$999.9

2.98%

$1,559.0

3.29%

Past Due 60 Days or More at December 31, 2000
Dollars in Millions

NOTE 8 / DEBT
The following table presents data on commercial paper
borrowings.
At December 31,

2000

1999

1998

Borrowings outstanding
Weighted average interest rate
Weighted average maturity

For the Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

Dollars in Millions

Dollars in Millions

$9,063.5 $8,974.0 $6,144.1
6.57%
5.71%
5.35%
37 days
27 days
38 days

Daily average borrowings
$10,565.1 $6,694.5 $6,572.1
Maximum amount outstanding $12,868.2 $9,295.0 $7,655.9
Weighted average interest rate
6.23%
5.17%
5.51%
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The following tables summarize static pool credit losses, which
represent the sum of actual and projected future credit losses,
divided by the original pool of the respective assets. Amounts
shown for each year are a weighted average for the securitizations
during the period.
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The following tables present the contractual maturities of total debt at December 31, 2000 and 1999.
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At December 31, 2000
Commercial
Paper

Variable-rate
Senior Notes

Total

Total at
December 31,
1999

Dollars in Millions

Due in 2000 (rates ranging from 4.00% to 7.57%)
Due in 2001 (rates ranging from 5.90% to 6.97%)
Due in 2002 (rates ranging from 6.58% to 8.52%)
Due in 2003 (rates ranging from 5.81% to 6.04%)

$
—
9,063.5
—
—

$

—
6,755.5
4,355.0
20.0

$
—
15,819.0
4,355.0
20.0

$14,056.2
1,225.0
820.0
20.0

Total

$9,063.5

$11,130.5

$20,194.0

$16,121.2

The consolidated weighted average interest rates on variable senior notes at December 31, 2000 and 1999 were 6.76% and
6.03%, respectively.
At December 31, 2000
Fixed-rate Notes
Senior Subordinated

Total

Total at
December 31,
1999

—
4,664.8
3,028.4
3,851.5
1,752.3
2,890.6
1,566.0

$ 4,827.2
4,678.7
2,885.0
1,268.8
1,766.4
3,670.9
—

Dollars in Millions

Due in 2000 (rates ranging from 5.00% to 9.34%)
Due in 2001 (rates ranging from 5.50% to 9.25%)
Due in 2002 (rates ranging from 5.50% to 8.26%)
Due in 2003 (rates ranging from 4.90% to 8.26%)
Due in 2004 (rates ranging from 4.41% to 8.26%)
Due in 2005 (rates ranging from 5.91% to 8.26%)
Due after 2005 (rates ranging from 3.25% to 8.25%)

$

Face amount of maturities
Purchase accounting adjustment and issue discount
Total

Fixed-rate senior and subordinated debt outstanding at
December 31, 2000 mature at various dates through 2028, with
interest rates ranging from 3.25% to 9.25%. The consolidated
weighted average interest rates on fixed-rate senior and subordinated debt at December 31, 2000 and 1999 were 6.83% and
6.61%, respectively. The purchase accounting adjustment and
issue discount was reduced during 2000 primarily by the cash
settlement of a derivative contract.
The following table represents information on unsecured
committed lines of credit with 47 banks that can be drawn upon
to support commercial paper borrowings at December 31, 2000.
Maturity

Amount

Dollars in Millions

March 2001
April 2003
March 2005

$4,053.9
765.0
3,720.0

Total credit lines

$8,538.9

The credit line agreements contain clauses that allow CIT to
extend the expiration dates upon written consent from the participating banks.

—
4,464.8
3,028.4
3,851.5
1,752.3
2,890.6
1,566.0

$
—
200.0
—
—
—
—
—

$

17,553.6
17.5

200.0
—

17,753.6
17.5

19,097.0
155.3

$17,571.1

$200.0

$17,771.1

$19,252.3

Certain foreign operations utilize local financial institutions to
fund operations. At December 31, 2000, local credit facilities
totaled $198.0 million, of which $104.6 million was available.

NOTE 9 / DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
As part of managing the exposure to changes in market interest
rates, CIT, as an end-user, enters into various interest rate swap
transactions, all of which are transacted in over-the-counter markets, with other financial institutions acting as principal counterparties. CIT uses off-balance sheet derivatives for hedging
purposes only, and does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. To ensure both
appropriate use as a hedge and hedge accounting treatment, all
derivatives entered into are designated according to a hedge
objective against: commercial paper, a specifically underwritten
debt issue or a specific pool of assets. CIT’s primary hedge objectives include the conversion of variable-rate liabilities to fixedrates, the conversion of fixed-rate liabilities to variable-rates, the
fixing of spreads on variable-rate liabilities to various market
indices and the elimination of interest rate risk associated with
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Interest Rate Swaps

Notional Amount
in Millions

Floating to fixed-rate swaps

$8,916.6

Fixed to floating-rate swaps

1,002.8

Total interest rate swaps

Comments
Effectively converts the
interest rate on an
equivalent amount of
commercial paper
and variable-rate notes
to a fixed-rate.
Effectively converts the
interest rate on an
equivalent amount of
fixed-rate notes to a
variable-rate.

$9,919.4

CIT’s hedging activity increased interest expense by $25.9
million, $35.8 million and $23.4 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, over the interest expense that would have been

incurred with the existing debt structure but without CIT’s
hedging activity. However, this calculation of interest expense
does not take into account any actions CIT would have taken to
reduce interest rate risk in the absence of hedging activity, such
as issuing more fixed-rate debt that would also tend to increase
interest expense.
CIT is party to cross-currency interest rate swaps with a
notional principal amount of $1.2 billion. The swaps hedge foreign currency risk and have maturities ranging from 2001 to 2019
that correspond with the terms of the debt. CIT also entered into
foreign currency exchange and bond forward contracts with
notional amounts of $2.9 billion and $26.9 million, respectively,
with maturities ranging from 2001 to 2004, to hedge foreign currency and interest rate risk.
CIT is exposed to credit risk to the extent that the counterparty
fails to perform under the terms of a derivative instrument. This
risk is measured as the market value of interest rate swaps, bond
forwards, or foreign exchange forwards with a positive fair value,
which totaled $151.6 million at December 31, 2000, reduced by
the effects of master netting agreements as presented in NOTE
20/FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. CIT
manages this credit risk by requiring all derivative transactions
be conducted with counterparties rated investment grade by
nationally recognized rating agencies, with the majority of the
counterparties rated “AA” or higher, and by setting limits on the
exposure with any individual counterparty. Accordingly, CIT’s
actual counterparty credit risk at December 31, 2000 is not considered significant.
The following table presents the notional principal amounts,
weighted average interest rates expected to be received or paid
and the maturities of U.S. dollar interest rate swaps at December 31, 2000.

Floating to Fixed-rate
Weighted Average

Fixed to Floating-rate
Weighted Average

Notional
Amount

Receive
Rate

Pay
Rate

Notional
Amount

Receive
Rate

Pay
Rate

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006-Thereafter

$1,980.3
1,336.4
2,902.2
1,009.4
131.9
986.2

6.73%
6.64
6.63
6.72
6.65
6.71

6.52%
6.47
6.96
7.18
6.44
6.94

$ 162.0
61.0
311.0
11.0
257.8
200.0

5.95%
6.18
7.15
7.85
6.92
5.92

6.80%
6.88
8.48
7.42
7.99
6.76

Total

$8,346.4

6.68%

6.79%

$1,002.8

6.60%

7.63%

Years Ending December 31,
Notional Amount in Millions

In addition, at December 31, 2000, CIT had outstanding interest rate swaps denominated in Canadian dollars and Australian
dollars. The Canadian dollar derivatives included instruments
with U.S. dollar equivalent notional principal amount of $394.8
million that converted floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt at

weighted average receive and pay rates of 5.88% and 6.20%,
respectively. The Australian dollar derivatives convert U.S. dollar
equivalent $163.9 million in floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt
at weighted average receive and pay rates of 6.29% and 6.37%,
respectively. The contractual maturities for both the Canadian
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anticipated securitization, syndication or whole loan sale of
financing and leasing assets. The notional amounts, rates, indices
and maturities of CIT’s off-balance sheet derivatives are required
to closely match the related terms of CIT’s hedged assets and
liabilities.
CIT utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts or cross-currency swaps to convert U.S. dollar borrowings into local currency
to the extent that local borrowings are not cost effective or available. CIT also utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to
hedge its net investment in foreign operations.
The following table presents the notional principal amounts of
interest rate swaps by class and the corresponding hedged liability position.
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and Australian derivatives are predominately between 2001 and
2004. All other foreign currency derivatives had an outstanding
notional balance of U.S. dollar equivalent $11.5 million, which
converted floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt, maturing through
2002, at weighted average receive and pay rates of 5.14% and
3.56%, respectively.
All rates were those in effect at December 31, 2000. Variablerates are based on the contractually determined rate or other

market rate indices and may change significantly, affecting future
cash flows.
The following table presents the notional principal amounts of
foreign exchange forwards, cross currency swaps and bond forwards at December 31, 2000. The bond forwards are utilized to
hedge certain assets held for syndication.

Foreign Exchange Forwards

Cross-Currency
Swaps

Bond
Forwards

Hedges of Debt
Notional Amount

Hedges of Net
Investments in
Foreign Operations
Notional Amount

Total
Notional Amount

Notional Amount

Notional Amount

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006-Thereafter

$1,223.0
498.4
293.1
7.5
—
—

$573.4
221.6
35.7
—
—
—

$1,796.4
720.0
328.8
7.5
—
—

$ 183.4
11.7
131.7
125.5
695.8
88.9

$26.9
—
—
—
—
—

Total

$2,022.0

$830.7

$2,852.7

$1,237.0

$26.9

Years Ended December 31,
Notional Amount in Millions

During 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities — Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 133, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.”
SFAS 137 delayed the implementation of SFAS No. 133, which
is now effective for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2000. During June 2000, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 133.”
We adopted SFAS 133 and 138 as of January 1, 2001. The
adoption did not have a material effect on either the statement
of financial position or the results of operations.

NOTE 10 / PREFERRED CAPITAL SECURITIES
In February 1997, CIT Capital Trust I (the “Trust”), a whollyowned subsidiary of CIT, issued in a private offering $250.0 million of 7.70% Preferred Capital Securities (the “Capital
Securities”), which were subsequently registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to an exchange offer.
The Trust subsequently invested the offering proceeds in Junior
Subordinated Debentures (the “Debentures”) of CIT, having
identical rates and payment dates. The Debentures of CIT represent the sole assets of the Trust. Holders of the Capital Securities are entitled to receive cumulative distributions at an annual
rate of 7.70% through either the redemption date or maturity of

the Debentures (February 15, 2027). Both the Capital Securities
issued by the Trust and the Debentures of CIT owned by the
Trust are redeemable in whole or in part on or after February 15,
2007 or at any time in whole upon changes in specific tax legislation, bank regulatory guidelines or securities law. Distributions
by the Trust are guaranteed by CIT to the extent that the Trust
has funds available for distribution. CIT records distributions
payable on the Capital Securities as an operating expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

NOTE 11 / STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Under the most restrictive provisions of agreements relating
to outstanding debt, CIT may not, without the consent of the
holders of such debt, permit stockholders’ equity to be less than
$200 million. Our primary bank line agreements include a minimum equity requirement of $3.8 billion.
During 1998, CIT’s Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock to provide for,
among other things, its employee compensation programs. On
March 14, 2000, the Board of Directors renewed and extended
the 1998 stock repurchase program by authorizing the purchase
of up to 3,000,000 additional shares of its common stock. Previously, on July 22, 1999, the Board of Directors renewed and
extended the same program by authorizing the purchase of up to
2,000,000 additional shares. All 5,000,000 shares were repurchased under these extensions.
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CIT has common stock, par value $.01 per share, with 1,210,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2000. The following table
summarizes activity in the outstanding common stock and exchangeable shares for 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Outstanding

Exchangeable
Shares

Balance at December 31, 1998
Shares issued:
Newcourt acquisition
Restricted shares issued, net
Shares purchased, net
Conversion of Exchangeco shares to common shares

163,144,879

(967,930)

162,176,949

—

76,428,304
27,997
—
2,684,772

—
—
(1,777,755)
—

76,428,304
27,997
(1,777,755)
2,684,772

27,577,082
—
—
(2,684,772)

Balance at December 31, 1999
Restricted shares issued, net
Shares purchased, net
Conversion of Exchangeco shares to common shares

242,285,952
1,412,025
—
13,254,601

(2,745,685)
—
(3,946,834)
—

239,540,267
1,412,025
(3,946,834)
13,254,601

24,892,310
—
—
(13,254,601)

256,952,578

(6,692,519)

Balance at December 31, 2000

250,260,059

11,637,709

On November 15, 1999, 27,577,082 exchangeable shares
of CIT Exchangeco Inc., par value of $.01 per share, were issued
in connection with the Newcourt acquisition. The holders
of Exchangeco shares have dividend, voting and other rights
equivalent to those of CIT common stock holders. These shares
may be exchanged at any time at the option of the holder on
a one-for-one basis for CIT common stock, and in any event CIT
may redeem these shares on a one-for-one basis on or before
November 1, 2004.

NOTE 13 / SALARIES AND GENERAL
OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses

$

NOTE 12 / OTHER REVENUE

Total

The following table sets forth the components of other revenue.

NOTE 14 / INCOME TAXES

Years Ended December 31,

The effective tax rate of CIT varied from the statutory federal
corporate income tax rate as follows.

2000

1999

1998

Fees and other income
Factoring commissions
Gains on sales of leasing
equipment
Gains on securitizations
Gains on venture capital
investments

$480.9
154.7

$161.0
118.7

$90.7
95.7

113.2
109.5

56.4
14.7

45.2
12.5

53.7

—

11.3

Total

$912.0

$350.8

$255.4

Dollars in Millions

The following table sets forth the components of salaries and
general operating expenses (excluding goodwill amortization).
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

600.7
434.5

$309.4
206.6

$245.4
162.3

$1,035.2

$516.0

$407.7

Dollars in Millions

Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

Federal income tax rate
35.0%
Increase (decrease) due to:
Goodwill amortization
2.1
Foreign income taxes
2.0
State and local income taxes, net
of federal income tax benefit
1.6
Other
(2.8)

35.0%

35.0%

0.2
—

0.1
—

2.7
(3.1)

3.0
(2.8)

Effective tax rate

34.8%

35.3%

Percentage of Pretax Income

37.9%
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The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following.
48
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

$ 24.6

$ 16.7

$ 60.4

211.5

163.5

100.2

236.1
113.2
24.6

180.2
3.0
24.4

160.6
—
24.4

$373.9

$207.6

$185.0
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Dollars in Millions

Current federal income
tax provision
Deferred federal income
tax provision
Total federal income taxes
Foreign income taxes
State and local income taxes
Total provision for income taxes

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred federal and foreign income tax
assets and liabilities are presented below.
At December 31,

2000

1999

Dollars in Millions

Assets:
Amortization of intangibles
Net operating loss carryforwards
Alternative minimum tax
Provision for credit losses
Loan origination fees
Other

$ (300.8) $ (282.1)
(216.0)
(153.8)
(85.7)
(50.7)
(73.4)
(90.1)
(29.7)
(22.6)
(96.3)
(81.1)

Total deferred tax assets

(801.9)

Liabilities:
Leasing transactions
Market discount income
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

$

(680.4)

1,006.6
388.9
51.6

932.7
226.6
29.7

1,447.1

1,189.0

645.2 $ 508.6

Included in deferred federal income taxes on the Consolidated Balance Sheets are unamortized investment tax credits of
$1.6 million and $2.2 million at December 31, 2000 and 1999,
respectively. Included in the accrued liabilities and payables caption in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are state and local
deferred tax liabilities of $112.6 million and $66.8 million at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, arising from the temporary differences shown in the above tables.
At December 31, 2000 CIT has $538.6 million of non-capital
losses available for tax purposes to offset future taxable income
arising from the reversal of deferred income tax liabilities. These
non-capital tax losses arise principally from temporary differences relating to depreciation and restructuring charges as well
as certain other permanent differences. Non-capital losses pertaining to the Canadian operations of $208.2 million will expire
at various dates through the year 2007. Net operating losses
pertaining to the U.S. operations of $330.4 million will expire at

various dates through the year 2020. CIT had an alternative minimum tax credit carryforward for income tax purposes of $85.7
million at December 31, 2000.
During 2000, the net deferred tax liability was reduced
by $95.6 million for the tax effect of purchase price allocation
refinements recorded in goodwill.

NOTE 15 / EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS”)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding for the period.
The diluted EPS computation includes the potential impact of
dilutive securities, including stock options and restricted stock
grants. The dilutive effect of stock options is computed using the
treasury stock method, which assumes the repurchase of common shares by CIT at the average market price for the period.
Options that have an anti-dilutive effect are not included in the
denominator and averaged approximately 14.9 million shares for
the year ended December 31, 2000.
The reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic
EPS with that of diluted EPS is presented for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999 and 1998.
Income
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

For the Year Ended December 31, 2000
Basic EPS:
Income available to
common shareholders
$611.6 261,141,544
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Restricted shares
—
1,386,353
Stock options
—
169,082

$ 2.34

Diluted EPS

$ 2.33

Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts

$611.6 262,696,979

(0.01)
—

For the Year Ended December 31, 1999
Basic EPS:
Income available to
common shareholders
$389.4
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Restricted shares
—
Stock options
—

174,013,063

$ 2.24

1,001,269
146,753

(0.02)
—

Diluted EPS

$389.4

175,161,085

$ 2.22

For the Year Ended December 31, 1998
Basic EPS:
Income available to
common shareholders
$338.8
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Restricted shares
—
Stock options
—

161,987,897

$ 2.09

936,250
264,592

(0.01)
—

Diluted EPS

163,188,739

$ 2.08

$338.8
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NOTE 16 / POSTRETIREMENT AND OTHER
BENEFIT PLANS

Certain employees of CIT who have completed one year of service and are 21 years of age or older participate in The CIT Group
Holdings, Inc. Retirement Plan (the “Plan”). The retirement
benefits under the Plan are based on the employee’s age, years of
benefit service, and a percentage of qualifying compensation
during the final years of employment. Plan assets consist of marketable securities, including common stock and government and
corporate debt securities. CIT funds the Plan to the extent it
At or for the Years Ended December 31,

2000

Retirement Benefits
1999

1998

2000

Postretirement Benefits
1999

1998

Dollars in Millions

Change in Benefit Obligations
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants’ contributions
Plan amendments
Actuarial loss/(gain)
Benefits paid

$107.9
7.0
8.5
—
2.6
4.6
(2.9)

$118.1
7.2
7.6
—
1.3
(23.8)
(2.5)

$100.4
6.3
6.9
—
—
7.0
(2.5)

$ 36.7
2.0
3.0
0.2
(7.8)
5.1
(2.9)

$ 37.2
1.8
2.3
—
—
(2.8)
(1.8)

$ 35.0
1.5
2.3
—
—
1.2
(2.8)

Benefit obligation at end of year

$127.7

$107.9

$118.1

$ 36.3

$ 36.7

$ 37.2

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Plan participants’ contributions
Benefits paid
Employer contributions

$140.7
(0.4)
—
(2.9)
—

$132.8
10.4
—
(2.5)
—

$128.5
6.8
—
(2.5)
—

$

$

—
—
—
(1.8)
1.8

$

—
—
—
(2.8)
2.8

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$137.4

$140.7

$132.8

$

$

—

$

—

Reconciliation of Funded Status at End of Year
Funded status
$ 9.7
Unrecognized prior service cost
2.4
Unrecognized net gain
(6.0)
Unrecognized net transition obligation
—

$ 32.8
(0.1)
(25.8)
—

$ 14.7
(1.5)
(4.7)
—

$(36.3)
—
(3.0)
11.8

$(36.7)
—
(8.4)
21.2

$(37.2)
—
(6.2)
22.9

Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost

$

$

$

$(27.5)

$(23.9)

$(20.5)

Weighted-average Assumptions
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Expected return on plan assets

7.50%
4.50%
10.00%

6.1

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost
$ 7.0
Interest cost
8.5
Expected return on plan assets
(14.0)
Amortization of prior service cost
0.1
Amortization of transition obligation
—
Amortization of gains
(0.8)
Total net periodic expense/(benefit)

$

0.8

6.9

8.5

—
—
0.2
(2.9)
2.7
—

7.75%
4.75%
10.00%

6.50%
4.25%
10.00%

7.50%
4.50%
—

7.75%
4.75%
—

6.50%
4.25%
—

$

7.2
7.6
(13.2)
—
—
—

$

6.3
6.9
(12.8)
(0.2)
—
(0.5)

$

2.0
3.0
—
—
1.6
(0.4)

$ 1.8
2.3
—
—
1.6
(0.5)

$ 1.5
2.3
—
—
1.6
(0.8)

$

1.6

$ (0.3)

$

6.2

$ 5.2

$ 4.6
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Retirement and Postretirement Medical and
Life Insurance Benefit Plans

qualifies for an income tax deduction. Such funding is charged to
salaries and employee benefits expense.
CIT also provides certain health care and life insurance benefits to eligible retired employees. Salaried participants generally
become eligible for retiree health care benefits after reaching age
55 with 10 years of benefit service and 11 years of medical plan
participation. Generally, the medical plans pay a stated percentage of most medical expenses reduced by a deductible as well as
by payments made by government programs and other group
coverage. The plans are funded on a pay as you go basis.
The following tables set forth the change in obligations, plan
assets, and funded status of the plans as well as the net periodic
benefit cost.
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For 2000, the assumed health care cost trend rates decline to
an ultimate level of 5.25% in 2006 for all retirees; for 1999, 5.50%
in 2005 for all retirees; and for 1998, 4.50% in 2005 for employees prior to reaching age 65.
Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect
on the amounts reported for the healthcare plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates
would have the following effects.
For the Years Ended December 31,

Postretirement Benefits
2000
1999

Dollars in Millions

Effect of One-percentage Point Increase on:
Year end benefit obligation
Total of service and interest cost components
Effect of One-percentage Point Decrease on:
Year end benefit obligation
Total of service and interest cost components

$ 1.4
$ 0.5

$ 2.8
$ 0.4

$(1.3)
$(0.4)

$(2.6)
$(0.4)

Savings Incentive Plan
Certain employees of CIT participate in The CIT Group Holdings, Inc. Savings Incentive Plan. This plan qualifies under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. CIT’s expense is based
on specific percentages of employee contributions and plan
administrative costs and aggregated $13.2 million, $10.4 million
and $9.6 million for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Corporate Annual Bonus Plan
The CIT Group Bonus Plan (“Bonus Plan”) is an annual bonus
plan covering certain executive officers and other employees.
The amount of awards depend on a variety of factors, including
corporate performance and individual performance during the
calendar year for which awards are made and is subject to
approval by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. For the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998, expenses for the Bonus Plan amounted to $40.0 million,
$24.3 million and $18.6 million, respectively. Relating to their
1999 bonus, certain senior executive officers were permitted to
defer up to fifty percent (50%) (in the form of CIT stock units).
The deferred portion of the bonus was converted into restricted
shares at a 25% premium, based on the closing price of CIT
shares on the date of approval. Such restricted shares vest over a
three-year period. The premium element is subject to forfeiture
if the executive voluntarily terminates employment with CIT
prior to three years from the date of the award. No deferral was
offered for 2000.

Long-Term Equity Compensation Plan
CIT sponsors a Long-Term Equity Compensation Plan (the
“ECP”). The ECP allows CIT to issue to employees up to
28,900,000 shares of common stock through grants of annual
incentive awards, incentive and non-qualified stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance shares
and performance units. Common stock issued under the ECP
may be either authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares or
any combination thereof. All options granted have 10 year terms.
Options granted in 2000, 1999 and 1998 vest one-third on the
first, second and third anniversary of the date of grant.
Data for the stock option plans is summarized as follows.
2000
Weighted Average
Option Price
Shares
Per Share

1999
Weighted Average
Option Price
Shares
Per Share

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Converted Newcourt options outstanding at year end 1999

16,551,643
7,096,081
(117,530)
(2,487,154)
—

$26.89
14.22
12.40
26.99
—

4,766,109
7,556,714
(27,698)
(397,099)
4,653,617

$27.39
23.38
27.00
26.10
32.02

Outstanding at end of year

21,043,040

$22.72

16,551,643

$26.89

7,801,955

$26.79

3,060,247

$26.13

Options exercisable at year end
Weighted average fair value of options granted (1999 excludes
converted Newcourt options) during the year

$ 4.50

$ 6.87
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Option
Issuance

The fair value of options granted was determined at the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which
assumed the following.

Expected
Option Life Range

Average
Dividend Yield

Expected
Volatility Range

Risk Free
Interest Rate Range

3 – 5 years
3 – 5 years

2.82%
1.75%

36.23% – 43.51%
28.93% – 34.82%

5.70% – 6.77%
4.61% – 5.92%

2000
1999

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2000.
Options Outstanding
Range of
Exercise
Price

Options Exercisable

Number
Outstanding

Remaining
Contractual
Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$12.40 – $19.63
$21.08 – $32.44
$33.06 – $68.22

7,144,308
12,847,904
1,050,828

9.7 years
7.9 years
7.3 years

$14.21
$25.20
$50.19

52,228
7,446,463
303,264

$12.86
$25.99
$49.04

Total

21,043,040

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In 1998, CIT adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the
“ESPP”). Under the ESPP, CIT is authorized to issue up to
1,000,000 shares of common stock to eligible employees. Under
the terms of the ESPP, employees can choose to have between 1%
and 10% of their base salary withheld to purchase CIT’s stock at
85% of fair market value. During 2000, 1999 and 1998, CIT sold
207,177 shares, 132,084 shares and 21,214 shares, respectively, to
participating employees under the ESPP.

Restricted Stock
In January 2000, CIT issued 114,037 restricted shares in connection with the Bonus Plan. In addition, in January and November 2000, CIT issued 10,350 and 933 shares respectively in
connection with awards to outside members of the Board of
Directors. All shares were issued at fair market value. The per
share value of the January 2000 Bonus Plan grant was $19.625.
The per share values of the January and November 2000 Directors’ grants were $19.625 and $16.75 respectively. Restricted
shares issued in connection with the Bonus Plan vest on the third
anniversary of the grant (January 2003). Restricted shares
awarded to the outside members of the Board of Directors all
vest one-third on the first, second and third anniversary of the
grant date.
On January 1, 2000, CIT issued 1,284,080 restricted shares in
connection with the Performance Accelerated Restricted Share
program. The shares were issued at a fair market value of $20.75.

7,801,955

Restricted shares under this grant can vest on an accelerated basis
in either three or four years (January 1, 2003 or 2004) based on
earnings per share performance of CIT. If conditions for accelerated vesting are not met in either year, the remaining awards will
vest on the fifth anniversary of grant (January 1, 2005).
In January 1999, CIT issued 68,225 restricted shares in connection with the Bonus Plan. Such shares were issued at fair market value, which was $32.44 per share. The 1999 shares granted
vest one-third on the first, second and third anniversary of the
date of grant.
The holder of restricted stock generally has the rights of a
stockholder of CIT, including the right to vote and to receive cash
dividends. Restricted stock of 1,446,032 shares and 945,606
shares was outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 1999. For the
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, compensation
expense recognized in connection with restricted stock was $13.2
million, $4.9 million and $5.2 million, respectively.

Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation Plans
CIT has elected to apply Accounting Principles Board Opinion
25 (“APB 25”) rather than the optional provisions of SFAS No.
123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”)
in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. Under
APB 25, CIT does not recognize compensation expense on the
issuance of its stock options because the option terms are fixed
and the exercise price equals the market price of the underlying
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On November 18, 1999, 5,985,714 options were granted
to certain employees as part of a broad-based incentive program. The CIT options that were granted to replace Newcourt
options become vested and exercisable in accordance with the
original grants.
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stock on the grant date. As required by SFAS 123, CIT has
determined the pro forma information as if CIT had accounted
for stock options granted under the fair value method of SFAS
123. Had the compensation cost of CIT’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the operational provisions of SFAS 123, CIT’s net income for 2000 and net income per
diluted share would have been $591.8 million and $2.25, compared to $611.6 million and $2.33, as reported. For 1999, net
income and net income per diluted share would have been
$355.6 million and $2.03, compared to $389.4 million and $2.22,
as reported. For 1998, net income and net income per diluted
share would have been $333.4 million and $2.04, compared to
$338.8 million and $2.08, as reported.

NOTE 17 / LEASE COMMITMENTS
CIT has entered into noncancellable long-term lease agreements
for premises and equipment. The following table presents future
minimum rentals under such noncancellable leases at December
31, 2000.
Years Ended December 31,
Dollars in Millions

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
Thereafter

$ 60.1
53.5
47.8
41.6
36.4
32.1

Total

$271.5

In addition to fixed lease rentals, leases generally require payment of maintenance expenses and real estate taxes, both of
which are subject to escalation provisions. Minimum payments
have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $54.8
million due in the future under noncancellable subleases.

At December 31,

Rental expense, net of sublease income on premises and
equipment, was as follows.
Years Ended December 31,

2000

1999

1998

Premises
Equipment
Less sublease income

$47.7
11.1
(5.7)

$24.8
7.1
(1.3)

$17.1
6.5
(1.3)

Total

$53.1

$30.6

$22.3

Dollars in Millions

NOTE 18 / LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of business, there are various legal proceedings pending against CIT. Management believes that the
aggregate liabilities, if any, arising from such actions will not have
a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position,
results of operations or liquidity of CIT.

NOTE 19 / CREDIT-RELATED AND
OTHER COMMITMENTS
In the normal course of meeting the financing needs of its customers, CIT enters into various credit-related commitments.
These financial instruments generate fees and involve, to varying
degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. To minimize potential
credit risk, CIT generally requires collateral and other creditrelated terms and conditions from the customer. At the time
credit-related commitments are granted, management believes
the fair value of the underlying collateral and guarantees approximates or exceeds the contractual amount of the commitment. In
the event a customer defaults on the underlying transaction, the
maximum potential loss to CIT will be the contractual amount outstanding less the value of all underlying collateral and guarantees.
The accompanying table summarizes the contractual amounts
of credit-related commitments.
Due to Expire
Within
After
One Year
One Year

Total
Outstanding
2000

Total
Outstanding
1999

Dollars in Millions

Unused commitments to extend credit:
Financing and leasing assets
Letters of credit and acceptances:
Standby letters of credit
Other letters of credit
Acceptances
Guarantees

$2,728.1

$371.4

$3,099.5

$3,128.1

171.9
467.8
6.7
645.3

2.0
32.5
—
—

173.9
500.3
6.7
645.3

168.5
373.9
12.7
351.2
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NOTE 20 / FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
SFAS No. 107 “Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments” requires disclosure of the estimated fair value of CIT’s
financial instruments, excluding leasing transactions accounted
for under SFAS 13. The fair value estimates are made at a discrete point in time based on relevant market information and
information about the financial instrument, assuming adequate
market liquidity. Since no established trading market exists for a
significant portion of CIT’s financial instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding future expected loss
experience, current economic conditions, risk characteristics of
various financial instruments, and other factors. These estimates
are subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of
significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with
precision. Changes in assumptions or estimation methods may
significantly affect the estimated fair values. Because of these
limitations, management provides no assurance that the estimated fair values presented would necessarily be realized upon
disposition or sale.

Actual fair values in the marketplace are affected by other significant factors, such as supply and demand, investment trends
and the motivations of buyers and sellers, which are not considered in the methodology used to determine the estimated fair
values presented. In addition, fair value estimates are based on
existing on and off-balance sheet financial instruments without
attempting to estimate the value of future business transactions
and the value of assets and liabilities that are part of CIT’s overall value but are not considered financial instruments. Significant
assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments
include customer base, operating lease equipment, premises and
equipment, assets received in satisfaction of loans, and deferred
tax balances. In addition, tax effects relating to the unrealized
gains and losses (differences in estimated fair values and carrying values) have not been considered in these estimates and can
have a significant effect on fair value estimates. The carrying
amounts for cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value
because they have short maturities and do not present significant
credit risks. Credit-related commitments, as disclosed in NOTE
19/CREDIT-RELATED AND OTHER COMMITMENTS,
are primarily short term floating-rate contracts whose terms and
conditions are individually negotiated, taking into account
the creditworthiness of the customer and the nature, accessibility and quality of the collateral and guarantees. Therefore, the
fair value of credit-related commitments, if exercised, would
approximate their contractual amounts.
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During 2000 and 1999, we entered into agreements with both
Airbus Industrie and the Boeing Company to purchase a total of
88 aircraft (at an estimated cost of approximately $5 billion), with
options to acquire additional units, and with the flexibility to delay
or terminate certain positions. Deliveries of these new aircraft are
scheduled to take place over a five-year period, which started in the
fourth quarter of 2000. Outstanding commitments to purchase aircraft, rail and other equipment from manufacturers to be placed
on operating lease during 2001 totaled $694.0 million, of which
$492.1 million have agreements in place to lease to third parties.
Similar commitments to manufacturers for year 2000 purchases
totaled $224.5 million at December 31, 1999.
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Estimated fair values, recorded carrying values and various assumptions used in valuing CIT’s financial instruments at December
31, 2000 and 1999 are set forth below.
2000
Carrying
Estimated
Value
Fair Value

1999
Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair Value

Asset
(Liability)

Asset
(Liability)

Asset
(Liability)

Asset
(Liability)

$ 22,599.8
2,698.4
1,809.0
(9,063.5)
(18,145.7)
(11,221.8)
(3,480.3)

$ 22,878.4
2,698.4
1,827.1
(9,063.5)
(17,969.4)
(11,127.2)
(3,480.3)

$ 20,638.1
3,123.7
1,728.8
(8,974.0)
(19,405.6)
(7,209.4)
(3,228.3)

$ 20,726.4
3,123.7
1,746.2
(8,974.0)
(19,082.7)
(7,146.7)
(3,228.3)

(250.0)

(240.8)

(250.0)

(232.8)

(15.5)
(4.0)
84.7
—

(229.2)
(2.1)
60.3
(2.2)

(125.4)
(16.5)
25.4
13.2

(134.0)
13.8
19.1
13.5

Dollars in Millions

Finance receivables — loans(a)
Finance receivables held for sale
Other assets(b)
Commercial paper(c)
Fixed-rate senior notes and subordinated fixed-rate notes(d)
Variable-rate senior notes(d)
Credit balances of factoring clients and other liabilities(d)(e)
Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
of subsidiary trust holding solely debentures of the Company(f)
Derivative financial instruments:(g)
Interest rate swaps, net
Cross-currency swaps, net
Foreign exchange forwards, net
Bond forwards, net

(a) The fair value of performing fixed-rate loans was estimated based upon a present value discounted cash flow analysis, using interest rates that
were being offered at the end of the year for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. Discount rates used in the present value
calculation range from 8.14% to 10.01% for 2000 and 8.32% to 10.37% for 1999. The maturities used represent the average contractual
maturities adjusted for prepayments. For floating-rate loans that reprice frequently and have no significant change in credit quality, fair value
approximates carrying value. The net carrying value of lease finance receivables not subject to fair value disclosure totaled $10.4 billion in 2000
and $10.0 billion in 1999.
(b) Other assets subject to fair value disclosure include accrued interest receivable, retained interests in securitizations and investment securities. The
carrying amount of accrued interest receivable approximates fair value. Investment securities actively traded in a secondary market were valued
using quoted available market prices. Investments not actively traded in a secondary market were valued based upon recent selling price or
present value discounted cash flow analysis. The carrying value of other assets not subject to fair value disclosure totaled $1,202.2 million in
2000 and $618.6 million in 1999. Excluded from other assets is ($16.1) million net premium on foreign exchange forwards, which is included
in this table under derivative financial instruments.
(c) The estimated fair value of commercial paper approximates carrying value due to the relatively short maturities.
(d) The carrying value of fixed-rate senior notes and subordinated fixed-rate notes includes $288.6 million and $256.6 million of accrued interest
at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The variable-rate senior notes include $91.2 million and $62.2 million of accrued interest at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. These amounts are excluded from the other liabilities balances in this table. The carrying value of
the fixed-rate senior notes excludes the net liability carrying value of derivative financial instruments of $86.0 million and $103.3 million at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. These derivative financial instrument values are included in the fixed-rate senior notes on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Fixed-rate notes were valued using a present value discounted cash flow analysis with a discount rate
approximating current market rates for issuances by CIT of similar term debt at the end of the year. Discount rates used in the present value
calculation ranged from 6.10% to 8.31% in 2000 and 5.65% to 7.83% in 1999.
(e) The estimated fair value of credit balances of factoring clients approximates carrying value due to their short settlement terms. Other liabilities
include accrued liabilities and deferred federal income taxes. Accrued liabilities and payables with no stated maturities have an estimated fair
value that approximates carrying value. The carrying value of other liabilities not subject to fair value disclosure totaled $607.5 million in 2000
and $356.1 million in 1999.
(f) Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred capital securities of subsidiary trust holding solely debentures of the Company were
valued using a present value discounted cash flow analysis with a discount rate approximating current market rates of similar issuances at the end
of the year.
(g) CIT enters into derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes only. The 2000 and 1999 carrying values for interest rate swaps, crosscurrency swaps and bond forwards represent purchase accounting adjustments associated with the instruments acquired from Newcourt and do
not necessarily correlate directly with the presented fair values as CIT has other instruments that are carried only off-balance sheet. The carrying
value balances will amortize as the instruments acquired mature. The carrying value for foreign exchange forwards is based on the change in
spot rate from the initial contract date to the year end. The estimated fair values are obtained from dealer quotes and represent the net amount
receivable or payable to terminate the agreement, taking into account current market interest rates and counter-party credit risk. See NOTE
9/DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS for notional principal amounts associated with the instruments.
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RELATED TRANSACTIONS
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Management’s Policy in Identifying
Reportable Segments
CIT’s reportable segments are comprised of strategic business
units aggregated into segments based upon the commonality of
their products, customers, distribution methods, operations and
servicing, and the nature of their regulatory environment.

Types of Products and Services
CIT has five reportable segments: Equipment Financing and
Leasing, Vendor Technology Finance, Commercial Finance,
Structured Finance and Consumer. Equipment Financing and
Leasing, Vendor Technology Finance and Structured Finance
offer secured lending and leasing products to midsize and larger
companies across a variety of industries, including aerospace,
construction, rail, machine tool, business aircraft, technology,
manufacturing and transportation. For 1999, CIT’s internal
financial information combined Vendor Technology Finance and
Structured Finance in the Vendor Technology Finance segment,
due to the short period from the acquisition date to the end of the
year and the business restructuring which took place as of year
end. The Commercial Finance segment offers secured lending
and receivables collection as well as other financial products to
small and midsize companies. These include secured revolving
lines of credit and term loans, credit protection, accounts receivable collection, import and export financing and factoring,
debtor-in-possession and turnaround financing. CIT’s Consumer
segment offers retail installment sale products to consumers
focused primarily on home equity and retail sales financing
secured by recreational vehicles and manufactured housing.

Segment Profit and Assets
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in NOTE 2/SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES. Since CIT generates a majority of
its revenue from interest, fees, and asset gains, management
relies primarily on operating revenues to assess the performance
of the segment. CIT also evaluates segment performance based
on profit after income taxes, as well as asset growth, credit risk
management and other factors.
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CIT has in the past and may in the future enter into certain transactions with affiliates of CIT. It is anticipated that such transactions will be entered into at a fair market value for the
transaction.
CIT’s interest-bearing deposits generally represent overnight
money market investments of excess cash that are maintained for
liquidity purposes. From time to time, CIT may maintain such
deposits with DKB.
At December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999, CIT’s credit
line coverage totaled $8.5 billion and $8.4 billion, respectively, of
committed facilities. At December 31, 2000, DKB was committed under a five-year, $3.7 billion revolving credit facility and a
364-day, $3.7 billion revolving credit facility for $173.5 million
per facility. In addition, DKB was committed under a separate
$333.9 million credit facility for $17.4 million. At December 31,
1999, DKB was a committed bank under a five-year, $3.7 billion
revolving credit facility and a 364-day, $1.7 billion revolving
credit facility for $210.0 million and $93.0 million, respectively.
Additional information regarding these credit lines can be found
in NOTE 8/DEBT.
CIT has entered into interest rate swap and cross currency
interest rate swap agreements with financial institutions acting as
principal counterparties, including affiliates of DKB. The
notional principal amount outstanding on interest rate swap
agreements with DKB totaled $200.0 million and $220.0 million
at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The notional principal amount outstanding on foreign currency swaps with DKB
totaled $168.6 million at year end 2000 and 1999. CIT has
entered into leveraged leasing arrangements with third party
loan participants, including affiliates of DKB. Amounts owed to
affiliates of DKB are $373.1 million at December 31, 2000 and
$398.3 million at December 31, 1999.
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, CIT has entered into creditrelated commitments with DKB in the form of letters of credit
totaling $19.5 million and $16.5 million, respectively, equal to the
amount of the single lump sum premium necessary to provide
group life insurance coverage to certain eligible retired employees and an amount to fund certain overseas finance receivables.
CIT has entered into cash collateral loan agreements with
DKB pursuant to which DKB made four loans to separate cash
collateral trusts in order to provide additional security for payments on the certificates of the related securitization trusts.
These securitization trusts were formed for the purpose of securitizing certain recreational vehicle and recreational marine
finance receivables. At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the principal amount outstanding on the cash collateral loans with DKB
was $8.9 million and $15.7 million, respectively.

NOTE 22 / BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION
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The following table presents reportable segment information and the reconciliation of segment balances to the consolidated financial statement totals and the consolidated managed assets total at or for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. Goodwill amortization is allocated to Corporate and Other for purposes of the table.
Equipment
Financing
and Leasing

Vendor
Technology
Finance

Commercial
Finance

Structured
Finance(1)

Total
Segments

Corporate Consolidated
and Other(1)
Total

256.0 $ 2,439.8
43.4
446.3
73.3
761.4
7,240.4
54,900.9

$ (58.4) $ 2,381.4
(72.4)
373.9
(149.8)
611.6
—
54,900.9

Consumer

Dollars in Millions

December 31, 2000
Operating revenue
Income taxes
Net income
Total managed assets
December 31, 1999
Operating revenue
Income taxes
Net income
Total managed assets
December 31, 1998
Operating revenue
Income taxes
Net income
Total managed assets

$

969.4 $
540.0
147.3
96.5
287.8
148.9
26,465.2
10,809.7

$

499.1
109.2
161.8
7,693.7

$

175.3
49.9
89.6
2,691.9

$

504.6
108.2
231.5
19,206.1

104.1
5.5
7.5
15,879.8

429.3
100.6
141.4
7,002.1

—
—
—
2,071.2

243.1
37.5
60.0
7,274.1

1,281.1
251.8
440.4
51,433.3

(12.9)
(44.2)
(51.0)
—

1,268.2
207.6
389.4
51,433.3

447.3
93.3
193.9
13,367.0

—
—
—
—

348.7
84.7
119.1
4,996.2

—
—
—
—

222.4
27.2
44.3
7,771.2

1,018.4
205.2
357.3
26,134.4

41.8
(20.2)
(18.5)
81.9

1,060.2
185.0
338.8
26,216.3

(1) For 1998, Equity Investments is included in Corporate and Other. This unit is part of Structured Finance in 2000 and 1999.

Finance income and other revenues derived from United
States based financing and leasing assets were $5,215.6 million,
$2,641.0 million and $2,129.9 million for the years ending
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Finance
income and other revenues derived from foreign based financing
and leasing assets were $944.8 million, $275.7 million and $140.6
million for the years ending December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively.

The following summarized consolidated financial information
reflects results as of and for the year ended December 31, 2000 and
also the transfer of various subsidiaries among other CIT entities.

NOTE 23 / SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
The following table presents summarized consolidated financial
information for CIT Holdings LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary, Capita Corporation (formerly AT&T Capital). CIT has
guaranteed on a full and unconditional basis the existing registered debt securities and certain other indebtedness of these
subsidiaries. Therefore, CIT has not presented related financial
statements or other information for these subsidiaries on a standalone basis.

CIT
Holdings LLC

Capita
Corporation

Operating revenue
Operating expenses

$ 710.7
451.5

$ 442.5
308.2

Income before provision for
income taxes

$ 259.2

$ 134.3

Net income

$ 176.0

$

$
48.6
6,781.5

$ 129.3
5,294.7

Year Ended December 31, 2000
Dollars in Millions

98.1

At December 31, 2000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Financing and leasing assets
Receivables from affiliates and
other assets

914.4

145.9

Total assets

$7,744.5

$5,569.9

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Debt
Other

$4,323.3
477.0

$3,879.6
326.2

4,800.3
2,944.2

4,205.8
1,364.1

$7,744.5

$5,569.9

Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity
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Second
Quarter

2000
Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Year

$349.1
238.2
268.2
61.6
20.5

$359.2
232.3
257.5
64.0
20.6

$370.5
224.2
250.2
65.8
22.7

$390.6
217.3
259.3
63.8
22.5

$1,469.4
912.0
1,035.2
255.2
86.3

4.8
88.3
$143.9
$ 0.55

4.8
93.2
$151.4
$ 0.58

4.8
95.0
$156.2
$ 0.60

4.8
97.4
$160.1
$ 0.61

19.2
373.9
611.6
2.33

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

1999
Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Year

$212.1
64.7
105.8
21.9
3.2

$214.4
74.8
108.0
23.8
5.0

$218.2
81.9
110.2
32.2
4.9

$272.7
129.4
192.0
32.4
12.6

$ 917.4
350.8
516.0
110.3
25.7

4.8
49.2
$ 91.9
$ 0.57

4.8
51.3
$ 96.3
$ 0.59

4.8
51.1
$ 96.9
$ 0.60

4.8
56.0
$104.3
$ 0.49

19.2
207.6
$ 389.4
$
2.22

Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts

Net finance margin
Other revenue
Salaries and general operating expenses
Provision for credit losses
Goodwill amortization
Minority interest in subsidiary trust holding solely
debentures of the Company
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per diluted share

$
$

Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts

Net finance margin
Other revenue
Salaries and general operating expenses
Provision for credit losses
Goodwill amortization
Minority interest in subsidiary trust holding solely
debentures of the Company
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per diluted share

NOTE 25 / SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On March 13, 2001, Tyco International Ltd. (NYSE: TYC), a
diversified manufacturing and service company, and CIT
announced a definitive agreement whereby Tyco will acquire CIT.
As part of this transaction, Tyco has entered into a purchase agreement with DKB for their approximate 27% interest, or 71 million
shares, at a price of $35.02, in cash, per CIT share. The remaining
shareholders will receive 0.6907 Tyco shares for each share of CIT
in a tax-free, stock-for-stock exchange. The transaction, which is
expected to close during the third quarter of 2001, is valued at
$35.02 per share to CIT shareholders, or approximately $9.2
billion, based on Tyco’s March 12, 2001 closing stock price.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The management of The CIT Group and its subsidiaries has the
responsibility for preparing the accompanying consolidated
financial statements and for their integrity and objectivity. The
consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The consolidated financial statements include
amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and judgments. Management also prepared the other information in the
annual report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency
with the consolidated financial statements.
The management of The CIT Group and its subsidiaries is also
responsible for establishing and maintaining an effective internal
control structure and procedures for financial reporting and safeguarding of assets. Management assesses The CIT Group’s
internal control structure and procedures for financial reporting
and safeguarding of assets based on recognized criteria for effective internal control. Based on their assessments, management
believes that The CIT Group maintained an effective internal
control structure and procedures for financial reporting and safeguarding of assets as of December 31, 2000. There are inherent
limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control,
and accordingly, even an effective internal control system
can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation.
CIT maintains a strong internal auditing program that independently assesses the effectiveness of the system of internal
control and recommends possible improvements thereto. The
accounting firm of KPMG LLP has performed an independent
audit of CIT’s consolidated financial statements. Their audit was
made in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America and considered CIT’s internal
control structure to the extent they deemed necessary to support
their independent auditors’ report appearing herein.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, comprised
entirely of outside directors, reviews the systems of internal control and financial reporting. The Committee meets and consults
regularly with management, the internal auditors and the independent accountants to review the scope and results of their
work. Unrestricted access to the Audit Committee is provided to
KPMG LLP and the internal audit staff, allowing open discussion, without management’s presence, of any matters that they
believe require attention.

The Stockholders and Board of Directors of
The CIT Group, Inc.:

Albert R. Gamper, Jr.
Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer

Joseph M. Leone
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer

William J. Taylor
Executive Vice President
Controller

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of The CIT Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000
and 1999, and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of CIT’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The CIT Group, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their operations and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2000 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Short Hills, New Jersey
January 25, 2001, except
as to Note 25, which
is as of March 13, 2001
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